#### Metadata header

This contract is provided by UC Berkeley's Institute of Industrial Relations Library (IIRL). The information provided is for noncommercial educational use only. It may have been reformatted from the original and some appendices or tables may be absent. Note that subsequent changes, revisions, and corrections may apply to this document.

For more information about the IIR Union Contracts Project, contact: Lincoln Cushing, lcushing@library.berkeley.edu

IDnum	198	Language	English	Country	United States	State OR
Union	AFSCME (A	American Fed	eration of State, C	ounty and Mu	nicipal Employees) /	AFL-CIO

Local 3336

Occupations Represented
Data entry and information processing workers
Science technicians
Librarians

Bargaining Agency State of Oregon Department of Administrative Employees

Agency industrial classification (NAICS): 92 (Public Administration)

BeginYear 2001 EndYear 2003

Source http://www.oregonafscme.com/locals.html

Original\_format PDF (unitary) Notes

Contact

# Full text contract begins on following page.

# AGREEMENT

BETWEEN THE

# STATE OF OREGON DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

AND

# AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES LOCAL 3336

FOR THE

# DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

2001 - 2003

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>PAGE</u>

PREAMBLE	
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	1
ARTICLE 3 - UNION RIGHTS	1
ARTICLE 4 - LAWS AND REGULATIONS	3
ARTICLE 5 - UNIT CLARIFICATION	3
ARTICLE 6 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION	3
ARTICLE 7 - DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 8 - AVAILABILITY OF THE PARTIES TO EACH OTHER	
ARTICLE 9 - FAIR SHARE	-
ARTICLE 10 - LIMITED DURATION APPOINTMENTS	6
ARTICLE 11 - AGENCY PERSONNEL POLICIES	
ARTICLE 12 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	
ARTICLE 13 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 14 - SHOP STEWARDS	
ARTICLE 15 - PERSONNEL RECORDS	11
ARTICLE 16 - FILLING OF VACANCIES	
ARTICLE 17 - TRIAL SERVICE	
ARTICLE 17 - TRIAL SERVICE ARTICLE 18 - CLASSIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION CHANGES	∠ا 12
ARTICLE 19 - CONTRACTING OUT	
ARTICLE 21 - PAYDAY AND PAY ADVANCES	
ARTICLE 22 - HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 23 - EDUCATION AND TRAINING.	
ARTICLE 24 - WORKWEEK, WORKDAY AND WORK SCHEDULE	
ARTICLE 24A - FLEXTIME	
ARTICLE 25 - REPORTING TIME	
ARTICLE 26 - SCHEDULING COMPENSATORY TIME OFF	
ARTICLE 27 - INCLEMENT CONDITIONS	
ARTICLE 28 - HOLIDAYS	27
ARTICLE 29 - VACATION LEAVE	29
ARTICLE 30 - SICK LEAVE	32
ARTICLE 31 - OTHER LEAVES	34
ARTICLE 32 - POSITION DESCRIPTIONS/WORK PLANS	37
ARTICLE 33 - PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL	37
ARTICLE 34 - SALARY ADMINISTRATION	
ARTICLE 35 - OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 36 - SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL	
ARTICLE 37 - ON-CALL	40
ARTICLE 38 - CALL BACK COMPENSATION.	41
ARTICLE 39 - LEADWORK DIFFERENTIAL	
ARTICLE 40 - HEALTH AND DENTAL INSURANCE	
ARTICLE 40 - TIEALTT AND DENTAL INSORANCE	
ARTICLE 42 - UNIFORMS ARTICLE 43 - TRAVEL AND MILEAGE ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE 44 - MOVING EXPENSES	
ARTICLE 45 - PARKING	
ARTICLE 46 - SALARIES	45

<u>ARTICLE</u>

ARTICLE 47 - STRIKES, LOCKOUTS AND PICKET LINES	46
ARTICLE 48 - LEGISLATIVE ACTION	
ARTICLE 49 - SAVINGS	47
ARTICLE 50 - COMPLETE AGREEMENT	47
ARTICLE 51 - SUCCESSOR NEGOTIATIONS	47
ARTICLE 52 - TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT	48
ARTICLE 53 - CLIENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURE/EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	48
ARTICLE 54 - JOB SHARING	49
ARTICLE 55 - STATE/PERSONAL PROPERTY & PERSONAL EFFECTS	
ARTICLE 56 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	50
ARTICLE 57 - PROFESSIONAL DIFFERENCES OF OPINION	50
ARTICLE 58 - PAST PRACTICE	50
ARTICLE 59 - RECOUPMENT OF WAGE AND BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS/ UNDERPAYMENTS	
ARTICLE 60 - TELECOMMUTING AND ALTERNATIVE WORK ARRANGEMENTS	52
ARTICLE 61 - IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW CLASSES—APPEALS PROCESS	56
ARTICLE 62 - BILINGUAL DIFFERENTIAL	57
APPENDIX A - SPILL CLEANUP COORDINATION	59
APPENDIX B - LETTERS OF AGREEMENT	61
APPENDIX C - CLASSIFICATION PLAN	63
APPENDIX D - SALARY SCHEDULES	66

### PREAMBLE

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon (hereinafter the "Employer"), acting by and through its Department of Administrative Services on behalf of the Department of Environmental Quality (hereinafter the "Agency"), and the American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, Local 3336 (hereinafter the "Union"), for the purpose of fixing wages, hours, benefits, conditions of employment and other matters affecting members of the bargaining unit as certified by the Employment Relations Board.

### NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

### Section 1.

The Employer and the Agency recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for: All classified employees of the State of Oregon, Department of Environmental Quality, excluding supervisory, confidential, managerial, temporary, and part-time employees working less than 32 hours per month.

### Section 2.

This Agreement binds the Union and any person designated by it to act on behalf of the Union. Likewise, this Agreement binds the Employer and the Agency and any person designated by it to act on its behalf.

# ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The parties agree that the Employer and the Agency have the right to operate and manage the Agency, including, but not limited to the right to maintain order and efficiency; to direct employees and to determine job assignments and working schedules; to determine the methods, means, standards and personnel to be used; to implement improved operational methods and procedures; to determine staffing requirements; to determine whether the whole or part of the operation shall continue to operate; to recruit, examine, select and hire employees; to promote, transfer, assign and reassign employees; to suspend, discharge or take other proper disciplinary action against employees; to lay off employees; to recall employees; to require overtime work of employees; and to promulgate rules, regulations and personnel policies, provided that such rights shall not be exercised so as to violate any of the specific provisions of this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 3 - UNION RIGHTS**

#### Section 1.

The Union will notify the Human Resource Manager of the Agency in writing of its representatives from District Council 75 who will be "Union Representatives."

# Section 2.

Union Representatives will be allowed to visit the work areas of the employees during work hours, after advising the Human Resource Manager of the Agency, or his/her designee if the visit is in the Central Administrative Office, or the supervisor of the field office, or his/her designee, of their presence for the purpose of meeting with employees regarding matters affecting their employment. Such visits are not to interfere with the normal flow of work and are to be limited to nonduty time. Under circumstances where a Union Representative acts as a steward performing grievance investigation(s) and/or processing, this may occur during duty time.

### Section 3.

The internal business of the Union shall be conducted by the employees during their nonduty hours.

#### Section 4.

Upon written request and approval of the Human Resource Manager, or designee, the Union may be allowed the use of the facilities of the Agency for meetings when such facilities are available and the meeting would not interfere with the business of the Agency.

### Section 5.

The Agency shall furnish each new employee with notice provided by the Union that the Union is the certified collective bargaining representative.

### Section 6.

Stewards and new employees shall each be granted fifteen (15) minutes of union business time, during the new employee's first thirty (30) days of employment, for the purpose of identifying the Union's status, organization benefits, facilities, related information and distributing and collecting membership applications. This time is not to be used for discussion of labor/management disputes. The Agency shall provide the Union at least ten (10) days notice of the time and place of any new employee group orientation meetings. In lieu of the orientation time referred to above, the Union may make a fifteen (15) minute presentation at the group orientation on behalf of the Union. If the presenter is an Agency employee, he/she will be allowed one (1) hour of Agency time including travel for this group presentation.

# Section 7.

The Agency shall continue to provide reasonable bulletin board space for the use of the Union in communications dealing with social functions, meetings, elections, Union appointments and such other information as may be approved by the Agency's Human Resources Manager. Copies of bulletin board materials may also be distributed through the E-Mail system.

#### Section 8.

Upon request and no more than once a month the Agency shall furnish to the Union an alphabetized listing of the names, classifications, and home addresses and division or regional office where employed of all new, transferred, or terminated employees in the bargaining unit. Upon request and no more than quarterly, the Agency shall furnish a listing with the same information as provided monthly of all employees in the Agency. Costs for additional information requests will be payable by the Union.

#### Section 9.

Upon receipt of the request in writing from represented employees, the Union shall be provided payroll deductions for its regular monthly dues in accordance with and as entitled to under ORS 292.055.

# ARTICLE 4 - LAWS AND REGULATIONS

This Agreement is subject to all applicable existing and future State and Federal laws and regulations.

# ARTICLE 5 - UNIT CLARIFICATION

Any dispute or question concerning bargaining unit composition shall be resolved by the Employment Relations Board.

# ARTICLE 6 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

### Section 1.

The provisions of this Agreement shall apply equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without regard to age, race, color, religion, sex, sexual preference, national origin, disability, marital status, or political affiliation. The Union further agrees that it will support the Agency's implementation of applicable Federal and State laws, regulations, and guidelines including but not limited to Presidential Executive Order 11246 as amended by Presidential Executive Order 11375 and the Governor's Policy and Guidelines for Affirmative Action Plans in State Agencies.

### Section 2.

All complaints alleging any form of discrimination in violation of this Contract shall be submitted to the Director or his/her designee. A meeting with the complainant will be held within fifteen (15) calendar days of the receipt of the complaint. If satisfactory solution cannot be reached, the Director or the designee will communicate in writing, within thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of the complaint, the position of the Agency to the complainant and the Union. If the complaint is not resolved, the employee or the Union may submit such complaint to the Bureau of Labor and Industries, Civil Rights Division; except that complaints alleging discrimination because of sexual preference or political affiliation may be submitted to the Department of Administrative Services, Labor Relations Division if unresolved by the Agency. The Department of Administrative Services, Labor Relations Division will review the complaint, attempt to resolve it, and/or issue its findings to the employee and the Union.

# **ARTICLE 7 - DEFINITIONS**

<u>Continuous Service</u>: Uninterrupted employment with the Agency. An interruption is a separation from employment except for layoff.

<u>Classification Specifications:</u> A document established by Department of Administrative Services, Human Resources Management Division setting forth a class title, a statement of minimum qualifications, duties, authorities and responsibilities.

Day: Calendar day unless otherwise specified.

<u>Promotion:</u> Movement of an employee from a position in one (1) class to a position in another class having a higher maximum salary rate.

<u>Demotion</u>: A movement of an employee from a position in one (1) class to a position in another class having a lower maximum salary rate.

<u>Dismissal</u>: A complete separation of a regular status employee from state service for disciplinary reasons.

Regular Status Employee: An employee who successfully completes a trial service period.

<u>Job Share Position:</u> A full-time position identified by the appointing authority in the classified service that is classified as one that may be held by more than one individual on a shared time basis whereby the individuals holding the position work less than full-time.

<u>Part-Time Employee</u>: An employee in the bargaining unit who works thirty-two (32) hours or more per month, but less than full-time per month in a budgeted position (excluding job-share, seasonal employees).

<u>Seasonal Employee</u>: An employee filling a position which occurs, terminates, and recurs periodically and regularly regardless of duration.

<u>Underfilling</u>: Employment of a person in a classification lower than the established class of the position.

<u>Position Description:</u> A written description of a position which contains the title, a statement of duties, authority and responsibilities.

<u>Reemployment</u>: A return by a former regular status employee to the Agency within a period of two (2) years from the date of separation.

<u>Proration of Benefits:</u> To divide or distribute entitlements, as provided by the Collective Bargaining Agreement. The proportional distribution shall be determined by the following method: Actual Hours in Paid Status/Divided by Total Regular Hours in the Month/Times the Entitlement's Value.

<u>Paid Status:</u> Compensable hours which include hours worked, or a combination of sick, vacation, personal, and compensable leaves.

<u>Seniority:</u> Unless otherwise indicated in this Agreement, seniority means continuous service with the Agency. All leave without pay (LWOP) periods that exceed fifteen (15) calendar days shall be deducted from the computation of continuous service.

<u>Temporary Employee:</u> As defined by Statute.

### ARTICLE 8 - AVAILABILITY OF THE PARTIES TO EACH OTHER

The parties agree that representatives of the Employer and the Union are each obligated to meet at reasonable times at the request of the other party for discussion of interpretation of the Agreement. Both parties pledge to meet expeditiously and in good faith.

# ARTICLE 9 - FAIR SHARE

#### Section 1.

On the first pay period of each month, the Agency shall deduct from the wages of employees in the bargaining unit who are members of the Union and who have requested such deductions pursuant to ORS 292.055 a sum equal to Union dues. This deduction shall begin on the first payroll period following such authorization and shall continue from month to month for the life of this Agreement.

#### Section 2.

Employees in the bargaining unit who are not members of the Union shall make payments-in-lieu-of dues which shall be the equivalent of regular Union dues. Beginning with the first payroll period after the execution of this Agreement and on each period thereafter, the Agency will deduct from the wages of each bargaining unit employee who is not a Union member the payments-in-lieu-of dues required by this Article. Similar deductions will be made in a similar manner from the wages of new bargaining unit employees who do not become members of the Union within thirty (30) days after the effective date of their employment. The Agency shall remit a payment for all said deductions to the Union by the 20th of the month after the deductions are made. Said payment shall be accompanied by a listing of the names and social security numbers of all employees from whom deductions were made.

#### Section 3.

Dues and payments-in-lieu-of dues for employees working less than twenty (20) hours per week will be on a prorated basis as outlined by Union policy. It shall be the responsibility of the Agency's Human Resources Department to notify the Union of employee's names and social security numbers working less than twenty (20) hours per week or less than thirty-two (32) hours per month for the purpose of prorating dues or fair share.

#### Section 4.

During the life of this Agreement, the Union will notify the Agency periodically of individuals who have become members of the Union and to whom the Fair Share provisions of this Article will not thereafter apply.

#### Section 5.

Any employee who is a member of a church or religious body having bona fide religious tenets or teachings which prohibit association with a labor organization, or the payment of dues to it, shall pay an amount of money equivalent to regular Union dues to a nonreligious charity or to another charitable organization mutually agreed upon by the employee affected and the Union. The employee shall furnish written proof to the Agency that this has been done.

Notwithstanding an employee's claim of exemption under this Section, the Agency shall deduct payments-in-lieu-of dues from the employee's wages pursuant to this Article, until agreement has been reached between the employee and the Union.

### Section 6.

The Union shall provide the Agency Payroll Office with Union application/authorization forms. Human Resources Department shall supply said applications to prospective members upon request, and shall process completed applications forwarding a copy to the Union immediately upon receipt.

# Section 7.

The Union agrees that it will indemnify, defend and save the Employer and the Agency harmless from all suits, actions, proceedings, and claims against the Employer and the Agency or person(s) acting on behalf of the Employer and the Agency whether for damage, compensation, reinstatement, or combination thereof arising out of the Agency's implementation of this Article.

### **ARTICLE 10 - LIMITED DURATION APPOINTMENTS**

### Section 1.

Persons may be hired for special studies or projects of uncertain or limited duration which are subject to the continuation of a grant, contract, award or legislative funding for a specific project. Such appointments shall be for a stated period normally not exceeding two (2) years but shall expire upon the earlier termination of the special study or projects.

#### Section 2.

a. No newly hired person on a limited duration appointment shall be entitled to any layoff rights under this Agreement.

b. An employee appointed from permanent regular status in the Agency to a limited duration appointment in the Agency shall be reinstated to his/her former permanent regular status classification in the Agency when the limited duration appointment is terminated. First priority shall be given to offering reinstatement position within the former work location. If a position is not available within the former work location, a reinstatement position shall be offered in some other work location. Such return rights shall not apply if charges are filed and he/she is discharged as provided in Article 12 (Discipline and Discharge).

#### Section 3.

A person accepting a limited duration appointment shall be notified of the conditions of the appointment and acknowledge in writing that they accept that appointment under these conditions. Such notification shall include the following:

a. That the appointment is of limited duration.

b. That persons who accept a limited duration appointment shall have no layoff rights under this Agreement except those provided under Section 2 (b) of this Article.

c. That in all other respects, limited duration appointees have all rights and privileges of other classified employees including but not limited to wages, benefits, and Union representation under this Agreement.

### Section 4.

New or current employees can be hired into permanent positions under Limited Duration status under the following conditions:

a. The position has been temporarily vacated due to job rotation, limited duration, extended leaves,

b. The position is known to have limited work and funding, not to exceed two (2) years.

c. The position is newly created by legislative action or is currently vacant.

# ARTICLE 11 - AGENCY PERSONNEL POLICIES

The Agency shall provide a copy of its written personnel policies to the Union. An up-to-date copy of current personnel policies shall be made available in every Division to employees.

When a change of policy occurs, a copy of the change will be mailed to the Union and notification will be provided to all affected employees.

# ARTICLE 12 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

# Section 1.

The principles of progressive discipline shall be used. No employee who has completed the initial trial service period shall be disciplined or dismissed without just cause.

### Section 2.

a. Discharge of a regular status employee may be appealed by the Union to binding arbitration. The appeal must state the reason for the appeal and must be submitted to the Department of Administrative Services, Labor Relations Division within ten (10) calendar days from the effective date of the discharge. Such appeal shall be heard by the arbitrator pursuant to the terms and conditions outlined in Section 5 to Section 9 of Article 13 (Grievance Procedure).

b. An FLSA non-exempt employee reduced in pay, demoted, or suspended shall receive written notice of the discipline and of the specific charges supporting the discipline. An FLSA exempt employee demoted or suspended consistent with the salary basis requirements of the FLSA shall receive written notice of the discipline and of the specific charges supporting the discipline. The reduction, demotion or suspension of a regular status employee may be appealed to Step 2 of the Grievance Procedure within fifteen (15) calendar days from the effective date of the action. Any further appeal of an action specified in sub (b) shall follow the procedure and time frames outlined in Article 13 (Grievance Procedure).

#### Section 3.

A written predismissal notice shall be given to a regular status employee against whom a charge is presented. Such notice shall include the known complaints, facts and charges, and a statement that the employee may be dismissed. The employee shall be afforded an opportunity to refute such charges or present mitigating circumstances to the Agency's Director or designee at a time and date set forth in the notice which date shall not be less than seven (7) calendar days from the date the notice is received. The employee shall be permitted to have an official representative present. At the discretion of the Agency Director, the employee may be suspended with pay or be allowed to continue work as specified within the predismissal notice.

### Section 4.

If the Agency has reason to discipline an employee it shall be done in a manner which will not embarrass or humiliate the employee in front of other employees or the public.

### Section 5.

Unauthorized absence of the employee from duty shall be deemed to be without pay and may be grounds for disciplinary action by the Agency. Employees may be allowed to cover such absences with accrued vacation time or compensatory time if extenuating circumstances existed. Any employee who is absent for five (5) consecutive workdays without authorized leave shall be deemed to have resigned unless prevented from notifying the Employer due to circumstances beyond their control.

### Section 6.

All notices of predismissal, suspension, reduction, written reprimand, demotion and dismissal shall be forwarded to the Union on the same day as the employee is notified.

# ARTICLE 13 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

### Section 1.

Grievances are defined as acts, omissions, applications, meaning or interpretation alleged to be violations of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

### Section 2.

It is the intent of the Agency and the Union to resolve employee problems and complaints, or differences in the interpretation of the contract, by informal methods if possible. Such informal methods may include, but are not limited to, collaborative problem-solving. Furthermore, the agency may, at its sole discretion, permit union participation in circumstances where such participation is not required by law or this contract. However, if the Union or an employee desires a formal resolution of any grievance or dispute, which arises concerning the application, meaning, or interpretation of this Agreement (except complaints of discrimination in Article 6), such grievance shall be resolved as provided under Section 3 of this Article.

# Section 3. Grievance Steps.

<u>STEP 1.</u> Any affected employee with the Union, or the Union on an employee's behalf, may file a grievance in writing with his/her immediate excluded supervisor within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of the alleged breach of this Agreement, or of the date the Union or employee knew or should have known of the alleged breach. The grievance shall include: (a) a statement of the grievance and relevant facts; (b) the specific provision or provisions of the Agreement alleged to be violated; and (c) the remedy sought. The supervisor or management designee shall respond in writing to the grievance within fifteen (15) calendar days to the employee, with a copy to the Union.

<u>STEP 2.</u> If the grievance remains unresolved at STEP 1, it may be appealed to the Agency Director within fifteen (15) calendar days after the response required by STEP 1 was due. The Agency Director or his/her designee shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the grievance.

### Section 4. Department of Administrative Services Review.

If the grievance remains unresolved at STEP 2, the Union may file the grievance with the Department of Administrative Services, Labor Relations Division, within fifteen (15) calendar days following receipt of the response at STEP 2. The Department of Administrative Services shall respond within fifteen (15) calendar days following receipt of the appeal to the Department of Administrative Services.

In the event the response from the Department of Administrative Services is acceptable to the Union, such response shall have the same force and effect as a decision or award of an arbitrator, and shall be final and binding on all parties and they will abide thereby.

#### Section 5. Submission to Arbitration.

Any grievance, having progressed through the Steps as outlined in this Agreement and remaining unresolved following Department of Administrative Services review, may be submitted to arbitration for settlement. To be valid a request for arbitration must be in writing and received by the Department of Administrative Services within fifteen (15) calendar days of the receipt of the response from the Department of Administrative Services review process.

Failure to file a valid arbitration request within the specified fifteen (15) calendar day period shall constitute forfeiture of claim and the case shall be considered closed by all parties.

If arbitration is requested, the parties shall meet to attempt to formulate a submission agreement to be forwarded to the arbitrator.

### Section 6. Mediation.

Subsequent to a valid arbitration request and prior to the selection of an arbitrator, either the Department of Administrative Services or the Union may request mediation of the grievance. If agreed to by both parties, mediation will be scheduled and conducted by the Conciliation Service Division of the Employment Relations Board. Mediation is not a mandatory step of the grievance procedure.

#### Section 7. Selection of the Arbitrator.

In the event that arbitration becomes necessary the Union and the Department of Administrative Services will jointly request from the Employment Relations Board the names of five (5) qualified arbitrators. They will select an arbitrator by alternately striking names, with the moving party striking first, from the Employment Relations Board list one (1) name at a time until only one (1) name remains on the list. The name remaining on the list shall be accepted by the parties as the arbitrator and arbitration hearings shall commence within fifteen (15) calendar days thereafter, unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties.

### Section 8. Arbitrator's Authority.

The parties agree that the decision or award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on each of the parties and that they will abide thereby. The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, or change any of the terms of this Agreement, to change an existing wage rate or establish a new wage rate. The arbitrator shall have the power to return a grievant to employee status, with or without back pay, or to mitigate the penalty as equity suggests under the facts.

# Section 9. Expenses of Arbitration.

Arbitrator fee and expenses shall be paid by the losing party. If, in the opinion of the arbitrator, neither party can be considered the losing party, then such expenses shall be divided

as in the arbitrator's judgment is equitable. All other expenses shall be borne exclusively by the party requiring the service or item for which payment is to be made.

### Section 10.

Employees are entitled to act through a Union Representative or Shop Steward to initiate a grievance. Employees are entitled to representation by a Shop Steward at the first and/or second step or by a Union Representative at any step in this Article.

### Section 11.

Once a bargaining unit member files a grievance, the employee shall not be required to discuss the subject matter of the grievance without the presence of the Union Representative or Shop Steward.

### Section 12.

If five (5) or more employees file a grievance on exactly the same issue, it shall be heard at STEP 2 of the procedure outlined in this Article and treated as a group grievance.

### Section 13.

Time limits may be extended by agreement of the parties.

# Section 14.

Failure of the aggrieved party to comply with the time limits outlined above shall constitute abandonment of the grievance.

# ARTICLE 14 - SHOP STEWARDS

# Section 1.

A reasonable number of Shop Stewards shall be allowed to ensure access to all Agency employees. Such Stewards shall be selected from and represent employees. The Union shall immediately notify the Human Resource Manager of the names of Shop Stewards and their designated representation area. The Union shall update the list as necessary.

#### Section 2.

Stewards may receive, but not solicit, and may discuss complaints and grievances of employees on the premises and time of the Agency, but only to such extent as does not neglect, retard or interfere with the work and duties of the Shop Stewards or with the work or duties of employees. No Steward will be granted per diem, transportation costs, overtime, or travel time to investigate grievances away from the Steward's work site. Upon notice to their immediate supervisor, Shop Stewards shall be granted reasonable time off during regularly scheduled working hours without loss of pay or other benefits to investigate grievances. No more than one (1) steward at a time shall be granted such time to investigate the same grievance.

If the permitted activities would interfere with either the Shop Steward's or the grievant's duties, the direct supervisor(s) shall, within the next working day, arrange a mutually satisfactory time for the requested activities. Time spent in grievance activities without the proper notification and release by the supervisor(s) involved will be considered unauthorized leave without pay for both the Shop Steward and the grieving employee. Each Shop Steward shall maintain and furnish

to his/her immediate supervisor, on the regular monthly time distribution sheet, a record of dates and times spent on the functions described in this Article.

### Section 3.

The Agency agrees there shall be no reprisal, coercion, intimidation or discrimination against any Shop Steward for the conduct of the functions described in this Article.

### Section 4.

At the Union's request and subject to the operating requirements of the Agency, Shop Stewards for the Union shall be granted personal leave, accrued vacation leave, accrued compensatory time, or leave of absence without pay to attend the Union's Shop Steward training session.

### ARTICLE 15 - PERSONNEL RECORDS

#### Section 1.

An employee may, upon request, inspect the contents of his/her official Agency personnel file. No grievance shall be kept in the personnel files after the grievance has been resolved except the resolution.

### Section 2.

No information reflecting critically upon an employee shall be placed in the employee's personnel files that does not bear the signature of the employee. The employee shall be required to sign such material to be placed in his/her personnel file provided the following disclaimer is attached:

"Employee's signature confirms <u>only</u> that the supervisor has discussed and given a copy of the material to the employee, and does not indicate agreement or disagreement."

If an employee is not available within a reasonable period of time to sign the material or the employee refuses to sign the material, the Agency may place the material in the files provided a statement has been signed by two (2) management representatives that a copy of the document was mailed to the employee at his/her address of record. A copy will also be mailed to the Union.

#### Section 3.

If the employee believes that any of the above material is incorrect or a misrepresentation of facts, the employee shall be entitled to prepare in writing an explanation or opinion regarding the prepared material. This shall be included as part of the personnel record until the material is removed.

#### Section 4.

An employee may include in the personnel files copies of any relevant material the employee wishes, such as letters of favorable comment, licenses, certificates, college course credits or any other material which reflects credibly on the employee.

#### Section 5.

Records of disciplinary action shall be retained for a maximum of three (3)years. At the employee's request, specifically identified materials reflecting caution, warning, admonishment, and disciplinary action will be removed two (2) years after the effective date of the action provided no incident of a similar nature has been documented in the intervening time. This early removal provision does not apply to letters of expectation or performance evaluations. Any period of leave of absence without pay that is more than fifteen (15) days shall extend the retention period for that duration of leave.

### Section 6.

An employee may, upon request, obtain a copy of any of the contents of his/her personnel file.

# ARTICLE 16 - FILLING OF VACANCIES

### Section 1.

The Agency desires to fill vacancies with the best qualified applicants available. Within that context, the Agency intends to insure that protected classes are given an opportunity to compete for all openings within the bargaining unit.

The Agency will determine whether and how a vacancy is to be filled, and will make the determination of which individual will fill the vacancy. Subject to the requirements of affirmative action and equal employment opportunity, where two or more employees are equally qualified for the position, which qualifications will include if applicable, but not necessarily be limited to work performance, work history, education, training, experience, skills, achievements, knowledge, references, licenses and certifications, the vacancy shall be given to the employee who has the greater seniority with the Agency. The Union may appeal these determinations through the grievance procedure.

# Section 2.

The employee is responsible for preparation for advancement and qualifying for promotion within the bargaining unit. Education and training shall be as provided under Article 23.

#### Section 3.

Employees will be notified of bargaining unit vacancies to be filled competitively by a posting on the bulletin board and E-Mail. This posting will be for a minimum of five (5) days.

# ARTICLE 17 - TRIAL SERVICE

#### Section 1.

All employees appointed to a position shall serve a trial service period of six (6) months except:

a. Employees having served at least two (2) years in the same classification and promoted within the same work unit, under the same supervisor;

b. Former employees having served at least two (2) years in the same classification and re-employed in the same classification and in the same work unit after an absence of less than two (2) years.

Employees under sub (a) and (b) shall serve a three (3) month trial service period. Any such abbreviation of trial service shall not alter the required six (6) month period necessary to receive a Merit Salary Increase as provided for under Article 34 of this Agreement.

# Section 2.

At any time during the trial service period, the Agency may remove an employee if, in the judgment of the Agency, the employee is unable or unwilling to perform his/her duties satisfactorily or if in the judgment of the Agency his/her habits and dependability do not merit his/her continuance in the position.

If such employee was previously a regular status employee in another bargaining unit position in the Agency immediately prior to his/her present appointment, he/she shall be reinstated to his/her former classification unless charges are filed and he/she is discharged as provided in Article 12 (Discipline and Discharge).

# Section 3.

An employee who is transferred or demoted to another position in the Agency prior to the completion of the trial service period shall complete a new trial service period of six (6) months.

# Section 4.

An employee's trial service period shall not be extended except in instances where an employee has a leave of absence or is on Hardship Leave. A leave of absence or Hardship Leave shall extend the trial service period by the number of calendar days of the leave taken by the employee.

# Section 5.

If an employee is removed from his/her position during his/her trial service period the employee shall not have rights to appeal the Agency's decision.

# ARTICLE 18 - CLASSIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION CHANGES

# Section 1. Work Out of Classification.

a. When an employee is assigned, in writing, by the Agency for a limited time period to perform the major distinguishing duties of a position at a higher level classification for five (5) consecutive workdays, that employee shall be paid at the first step in the assigned classification or five percent (5%) more than his/her current rate of pay, whichever is greater.

When such assignments are made to work out of classification for five (5) consecutive workdays, the employee shall be compensated for all hours worked beginning from the first day of the assignment and for the full period of that particular assignment.

b. An employee who is underfilling a position shall be informed in writing that he/she is an underfill, the reasons for the underfill, and the requirements necessary for the employee to qualify for reclassification to the allocated level. Upon gaining regular status and meeting the requirements for the allocated level to the position, the employee shall be reclassified.

c. An employee who accepts duties out of class for training or developmental purposes shall have an agreement in writing of the purpose and length of the assignment during which there shall be no extra pay for the work. Such assignment shall not exceed twelve (12) months. A copy of the notice shall be placed in the employee's file.

# Section 2. Revision of Classification Series.

a. Prior to implementation of new classifications, or major revisions of existing classifications, the parties will negotiate rates of pay, effective date and method of implementation.

b. Should the Agency establish a new classification or materially revise an existing classification during the life of this Agreement, the parties shall meet and negotiate the salary range for the new or revised classification.

c. Employees shall be informed of their allocation into the new classification system by the Employer. Appeals to position allocation in the new classification system shall be filed by the employee with the Human Resource Manager. Such appeals shall be forwarded to a Department of Administrative Services Review Committee consisting of two (2) members designated by the Employer, and two (2) members designated by the Union. All allocation appeals shall be resolved in the manner which has been established for all AFSCME allocation appeals during recent negotiations at the State central table.

# Section 3. Reclassification Procedure.

a. A completed Position Description Form and written explanation for a proposed reclassification request shall be submitted to the Agency Human Resource Office.

b. The Agency shall review and verify the duties assigned to the position. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of reclassification request, the Agency shall notify the Union of its findings. If the findings indicate reclassification, the Agency shall decide to seek approval if necessary or remove the duties.

### Section 4. Upward Reclassification.

When a position is reclassified upward a regular incumbent shall be continued in the position. He/she shall be advanced to the higher class with the same status held in the lower class if he/she meets minimum experience and training requirements. When a position is reclassified upward and the incumbent does not have regular status, the position will be filled competitively at the higher level.

# Section 5. Downward Reclassification.

a. When a position is reclassified to another class at the same pay level or to a class that carries a lower salary range, the incumbent trial service or regular employee shall be accorded corresponding status in the new class.

b. The Agency shall notify an employee in writing of a downward reclassification of the employee's position, and the specific reasons for doing so within thirty (30) days prior to the effective date.

c. When an employee is reclassified downward, the employee's rate of pay shall be the last salary rate earned in the salary range of the previous classification. It shall remain at that rate until a rate in the salary range of the new classification exceeds it, at which time the employee's salary shall be adjusted to that step and the salary review and eligibility date shall be established one (1) year from that date, provided the employee is not at the maximum of the salary range to which the employee was reclassified.

d. No employee with the same duties within the same classification in the same geographic area shall be reclassed downward while other employees with less service credits remain in the original class.

# Section 6. Equal Reclassification Rate.

When an employee is reclassified to a class having the same salary range, his/her rate of pay will not be changed.

# Section 7. Pay for Upward Reclassification.

Rate of pay upon upward reclassification shall be the first step of the new salary range, unless the old salary rate was higher than the first step of the new salary range, then whatever step of a new salary range constitutes a pay increase. If the new salary rate is less than a four percent (4%) increase, then the employee's rate shall be the next step of the new salary range. In no case shall it exceed the new salary range maximum.

# Section 8. Pay Date of Upward Reclassification.

a. Effective date of reclassification payment shall be the first of the month following the month in which the reclass request was received by the Department of Administrative Services.

b. The employee does not retain his/her old eligibility date and will be eligible for salary increase the first of the month following twelve (12) months in the new class.

# Section 9. Pay for Upward Reclassification Denial.

If the Legislature or the Department of Administrative Services does not approve the reclassification request, the employee shall be paid the rate of pay of the higher level classification from the first of the month following the month in which the reclass request was received by the Agency Personnel Officer to the date the duties were removed.

# Section 10.

a. If an employee's reclass request is denied pursuant to Section 3 of this Article, or an employee's position is to be reclassified downward pursuant to Section 5 of this Article, the Union may appeal the decision to the Agency Administrator or designated representative within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the Agency's decision. The written appeal must state:

The reason(s) why the Agency's decision is arbitrary.

The Agency shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days from the receipt of the Union's appeal.

b. If the Agency's response does not resolve the matter, the Union may within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date of the Agency response, appeal the decision to arbitration under this Article of this Agreement. The selection of an arbitrator shall be pursuant to Section 4 of Article 13 (Grievance Procedures). The appeal must be in writing and sent to the Labor Relations Division of the Department of Administrative Services within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the Agency's written response in sub (a) of this Section. The appeal must state the following:

The reason(s) why the decision was arbitrary.

The arbitrator shall allow the decision of the Agency to stand unless he/she finds the decision was arbitrary.

If the arbitrator finds the Agency's decision is arbitrary, the arbitrator's authority shall extend only to stating if the employee's current classification is inappropriate. If the arbitrator finds the employee's current classification is inappropriate, he/she shall refer the issue to the Agency for reconsideration. The Agency shall either remove the higher level duties or reclassify the position. The arbitrator shall have no power to substitute his/her discretion for the Agency's discretion on classification matters. This Section shall supersede Section 5 of Article 13 (Grievance Procedure/Arbitration) on the delineation of the arbitrator's authority on matters spoken to in this Article.

# ARTICLE 19 - CONTRACTING OUT

The Agency may determine to contract or subcontract work provided that as to work which is presently and regularly performed by employees in the bargaining unit, the Agency agrees to notify the Union and negotiate the impact of the pending action. It is specifically understood that such negotiations are not required in (1) emergency situations, (2) where the impact is minimal (and not mandatory), or (3) where the assignment of work currently being performed by the bargaining unit members is transferred to other State facilities as provided for by statute.

# ARTICLE 20 - LAYOFF

### Section 1.

A layoff is defined as a separation from the service for involuntary reasons not reflecting discredit on an employee. An employee shall be given written notice of layoff as far in advance as possible but not less than fifteen (15) calendar days before the effective date, stating the reasons for the layoff.

# Section 2.

During the life of this Agreement, the parties agree to meet and discuss the affirmative action policies of this Agency as they relate to the layoff procedures of this Article. If mutual agreement can be reached and subject to the ratification by the Department of Administrative Services, Labor Relations Division as representative of the Agency and the Union, that agreement shall become part of this Agreement and will govern bypass during layoff of certain protected class individuals.

Additionally, up to two (2) employees per Division may be protected from layoff for up to ninety (90) days if their loss would demonstrably work a hardship on the operation of the Agency. Extensions may be granted by mutual agreement of the parties.

# Section 3.

The layoff procedure shall occur in the following manner:

a. The Agency shall determine the specific positions to be vacated and employees in those positions shall be notified of layoff. The Agency shall notify, in writing, all affected employees of his/her seniority and his/her contractual bumping rights. The Agency shall notify the Union of the seniority of all employees in all affected positions in writing. The Agency shall also post a copy of the seniority of all affected positions in the geographic area on the employee bulletin board.

b. Temporary and contractual employees working in the classification and geographic area in which a layoff occurs shall be terminated prior to the layoff of trial service or regular employees.

c. Employees shall be laid off and seniority calculated within a geographic area and within the following separate categories: Permanent full-time positions; Permanent part-time positions; or Seasonal full and part-time positions. An initial trial service employee can not displace any regular status employee.

d. An employee notified of a pending layoff shall select one (1) of the following options and communicate such choice in writing to the Human Resources Manager within five (5) calendar days from the date the employee is notified in writing.

1. The employee may displace an employee in the Agency with the lowest seniority in the same classification for which he/she is qualified in the same geographical area in the Agency where the layoff occurs.

2. The employee may displace an employee in the Agency with the lowest seniority in a position in a classification with the same salary range (lateral) for which he/she is qualified in the same geographic area where the layoff occurs, provided that he/she has previously completed trial service in a position in that classification with the Agency.

3. The employee may demote to the lowest seniority position in any classification for which he/she is qualified within the Agency and geographic area. Employees who elect to demote shall be placed on any geographic area layoff list of his/her choice, within the Agency, for the classification from which he/she demoted.

4. The employee may elect to be laid off. An employee who elects to be laid off shall be placed on any geographic area layoff list of his/her choice, within the Agency, for the classification from which he/she was laid off.

e. To be qualified for the options under Section 2(d)(1), (2), and (3) the employee must meet all of the minimum qualifications for the position's classification and must be capable of performing the specific requirements of the position as stated in the position description within two weeks. An employee who is seeking to bump another employee has no right to a trial service period of any duration in the position into which the employee is attempting to bump. Further, the two week time period is for the purposes of orienting an employee to the position, not training the employee to perform the work. Therefore, it is necessary that the employee can perform all of the duties and responsibilities of the position as determined by the Agency prior to bumping into the position.

If an employee meets the minimum qualifications but is not capable of performing the specific requirements of the lowest seniority position, he/she may displace or demote to the next lowest seniority position in the classification, provided that the incumbent in the next lowest position has a lower seniority than the employee displacing or demoting and that the employee is capable of performing the specific requirements of the position.

f. When exercising an option under Section 3(d)(1), (2), and (3) an employee shall only be eligible to displace another employee with a lower seniority.

g. Job-Share.

1. Individuals filling a job-sharing position which totals a full-time equivalent at the time of calculation of seniority shall be considered as one (1) full-time equivalent, or, as two (2) part-time employees. This determination shall be made by the Agency at the time the position is created. For all current job-share positions, they shall be considered as part-time positions for purposes of this Article.

2. Seniority for prior non-job-share time shall be determined by giving the employee one (1) point per month for any full-time worked and pro rata credit for each month spent on the job in less than full-time capacity.

3. Seniority for a current full-time equivalent job-share position shall be determined by giving the employee one (1) point per month for each continuous month spent on the job-share if the two employees are to be treated as a full-time equivalent for purposes of layoff. Seniority for prior noncontinuous job-share time shall be calculated on the same basis as

part-time service. Total seniority for employees in the job-share position will be determined by averaging the two individuals' scores.

4. If employees in a job-share position are to be treated as part-time employees, seniority for the position shall be determined on a prorated basis as per part-time seniority computation.

h. If an employee is overfilling or underfilling a position, the employee will be considered in the position classification for the purposes of this Article. If an overfill employee is displaced, demoted in lieu of layoff, or is laid off, the employee shall retain his/her overfill status upon return to his/her classification.

i. Any employee displaced by another employee exercising options under Section 3(d)(1), (2), and (3) may also exercise any option under Section 3(d).

# Section 4.

Computation of seniority for regular status employees shall be made as follow:

a. One (1) point per month for each full month of unbroken service in State service excluding temporary service. A break in service is a separation or interruption of employment without pay of more than two (2) years. All part-time service shall be credited on a prorated basis. Periods of authorized leave without pay will be deducted from seniority calculations. When a layoff is announced, seniority scores shall be frozen on that date until the layoff and any subsequent bumping activity is completed.

b. If two (2) or more employees have equal seniority, the tie shall be broken as follows, with most credit given to:

1. Length of continuous service with the Agency;

2. Length of continuous service in the job classification.

# Section 5.

Cross bumping may occur between management service and the bargaining unit.

# Section 6.

Any trial service employee who is laid off or demoted in lieu of layoff shall not be placed on the Agency layoff list, but shall be restored to the eligible list from which certification was made if the eligible list is still active. Restoration of the list shall be for the remaining period of eligibility that existed at the time of appointment from the list.

# Section 7.

Regular seasonal employees laid off prior to the end of the season shall be placed in order of seniority on the Agency layoff list for seasonal reappointment. The eligibility for such seasonal employees shall be canceled at the end of each season. At the completion of a season, all seasonal employees shall be terminated without regard to seniority. Regular seasonal employees terminated at the end of the season shall be placed on the reemployment roster in order of seniority and shall be recalled by geographical area the following season in order of seniority to the extent that work is available to be performed.

# Section 8.

Any employee demoted in lieu of layoff may request at that time and shall be paid for all accrued compensatory time at the rate being earned prior to demotion in lieu of layoff.

# Section 9. Agency Layoff Lists.

Names of regular employees of the Agency who have separated from the service of the State in good standing by layoff or who have demoted in lieu of layoff shall be placed on layoff lists in seniority order established by the classification from which the employee was laid off or demoted in lieu of layoff and by geographical area.

The employee shall designate, in writing, the geographic area layoff list(s) on which he/she wishes to be placed. The term of eligibility of candidates placed on the list shall be two (2) years from the date of placement on the list.

#### Section 10. Recall.

Employees who are on an Agency layoff list shall be recalled by geographic area in seniority order beginning with the employee with the highest seniority who meets all of the minimum qualifications for the position's classification and who is capable of performing the specific requirements of the position as stated on the position description within two (2) weeks. An employee who is seeking recall has no right to a trial service period of any duration in the position into which the employee is attempting to return. Further, the two week time period is for the purposes of orienting an employee to the position, not training the employee to do the work. Therefore, it is necessary that the employee can perform all of the duties and responsibilities of the position as determined by the Agency prior to being recalled to the position.

If an employee on a layoff list is offered a position, he/she may refuse the position, but his/her name will be removed from the layoff list in that geographic area.

An employee appointed to a position from a layoff list shall be removed from all other layoff lists.

If a temporary appointment is necessary in any geographic area and is expected to last longer than forty-five (45) days and there is a layoff list for that classification in the geographic area, employees on the layoff list shall first be offered the temporary appointment prior to hiring any other temporary. Not accepting a temporary job does not constitute a right of refusal under this Section. This shall only apply to employees separated from State service. Such employees shall be appointed as a temporary employee, remain on the layoff list, and will not be eligible for any benefits covered under this Agreement.

#### Section 11. Geographic Area.

1. Northwest Area

DEQ Headquarters, Laboratory, Warrenton, Northwest Region, Portland Area VIP

2. Willamette Valley Area

Salem, Eugene, Newport

Southwest Area

Medford, Roseburg, Coos Bay, Grants Pass, Medford VIP

4. Central Area

Bend, Klamath Falls

5. Eastern Area Pendleton, Baker City, The Dalles

#### Section 12.

3.

Any temporary interruption of employment because of lack of work or unexpected or unusual reasons beyond the Employer's control which does not exceed fifteen (15) consecutive days, shall not be considered a layoff if, at the termination of such conditions, employee(s) are to be returned to employment. Such interruptions of employment shall be recorded and reported as leave without pay. Employees remaining on duty during the temporary interruption will be selected by seniority within classification.

### ARTICLE 21 - PAYDAY AND PAY ADVANCES

#### Section 1.

All employees shall normally be paid no later than the first of the month. When a payday occurs on Monday through Friday, payroll checks shall be released to employees on that day. When a payday falls on a Saturday, Sunday or Holiday, employee paychecks shall be made available after 8:00 A.M. on the last working day of the month. When an employee is not scheduled to work on the payday, the paycheck may be released prior to payday if the paycheck is available and the employee has completed the "Request for Release of Payroll Check" Form AD20. However, the employee may not cash or deposit the check prior to the normal release day.

Any violation of this provision shall be cause for disciplinary action. The release day for December paychecks dated January 1 shall be the first working day in January to avoid the risk of December's paychecks being included in the prior year's earnings for tax.

### Section 2.

Employees will be allowed one (1) pay advance during their first thirty (30) days of employment.

#### Section 3.

The parties agree that pay advances will be kept to an absolute minimum and are for emergencies. Within that context, employees may obtain an advance on their salary. The amount of the request shall not exceed sixty percent (60%) of gross pay earned to date in the month, but shall be at least one hundred dollars (\$100.00). Employees may submit requests up to the final monthly payroll cutoff date. Pay advance requests will normally be submitted to the payroll office by the fifteenth of the month. If any employee requests more than one pay advance in any 12-month period, management has the right to deny it, if a valid emergency does not exist.

# ARTICLE 22 - HEALTH AND SAFETY

#### Section 1.

The Employer agrees to abide by standards of safety and health in accordance with the Oregon Statutes and Administrative Rules.

#### Section 2.

Proper safety devices and clothing shall be provided by the Agency for all employees engaged in work where such devices are necessary to meet the requirements of the Department of Insurance and Finance or if deemed necessary by the Agency. Such equipment, where provided, must be used. Where the Agency has provided protective devices or clothing in the past and it is deemed necessary under this Article, the practice will continue. Protective clothing and safety devices shall remain the property of the Agency and shall be returned to the Agency upon termination of employment. Agency will develop policy concerning security of individual safety equipment. That policy will also refer employees to the Safety Officer to get needed/replacement materials.

### Section 3.

If an employee claims that assigned equipment or job assignment is unsafe or might endanger his/her health, and for that reason refuses to use the equipment or perform the assigned job, the employee shall immediately give his/her reasons for this conclusion to their supervisor, in writing, who shall make an immediate determination in consultation with the Agency Safety Officer or his/her designee or a representative of the appropriate governmental agency as to the safety of the equipment or job assignment in question. A Union representative or Shop Steward may accompany the above representative and employee during this determination.

If the supervisor is not available, the request shall be immediately directed to the next level of supervision for determination.

### Section 4.

Pending determination provided for in this Article, the employee shall be given suitable work elsewhere.

### Section 5.

Time lost by the employee as a result of any refusal to perform work on the grounds that it is unsafe or might unduly endanger his/her health shall not be paid by the Agency unless the employee's claim is upheld.

#### Section 6.

The Agency shall provide space to permit ill or injured employees to lie down until disposition of need.

# Section 7.

The Agency shall provide and maintain first aid kits for use in emergencies. Said first aid kits shall be in all work locations and shall be available for emergency use.

#### Section 8.

A central safety committee shall be administered by the Agency. In the area of safety, the committee's function will be as set forth by OAR 437-40-047. The Union and Management shall each appoint three (3) members who will serve by consent.

#### Section 9.

Where medical records are necessary for the monitoring of employees exposed to hazardous materials, such records will be maintained by a medical facility in accordance with OAR 437. Records may be reviewed by the employee subject to standard operating procedures of the medical facility. The medical facility shall recommend work restrictions needed by individual employees to protect their health. These recommendations will be provided to both management and the employee.

#### Section 10.

Prescription safety glasses will be provided to the employee in operations where safety glasses are required. Choice of frames will be made by the employee, subject to a maximum one

hundred and fifty dollar (\$150.00) allowance for safety glasses. [Note: It is not the Agency's practice or intent to pay for eye examinations.]

### Section 11.

In the Vehicle Inspection Program, the Agency will provide gloves for worker convenience Additionally the Agency will reimburse the employee up to \$15.00 for purchase of gloves one (1) time during the contract period.

### Section 12.

A joint management/represented employee committee will provide guidelines and suggested policies for implementation of an employee wellness program. The committee will select a chairperson from among the members and will be provided a budget of \$15,000 per biennium to implement a program designed to enhance employee health. The Human Resources Manager will provide oversight to the committee and approve recommended expenditures of budgeted funds.

# ARTICLE 23 - EDUCATION AND TRAINING

### Section 1.

The Agency will, as far as it is reasonably practicable to do so, provide training and education opportunities for employees including support and technical staff. Such opportunities may include, but not be limited to, job-related training, career development, job rotations, and special assignments. The Agency will obtain and disseminate current information about available training and opportunities on a timely basis. To ensure that all employees are aware of the career development program, the Agency shall post information regarding the career development program on the Internet, post notices via e-mail at least annually and include information in New Employee Packets and New Employee Orientation.

# Section 2.

Training for employees may be conducted both during and outside of an employee's work schedule. When an employee's attendance is required by the Agency, he/she shall be notified in writing, and he/she shall be paid for the time as time worked. When a regular status employee requests training, the request shall be made in writing in accordance with the procedure in the agency training policy and management will respond in accordance with agency training policy.

#### Section 3.

The Agency may offer in-house training for employees to improve their knowledge, skills and abilities to perform their job. Attendance at such training may be mandatory without loss of pay to the employee. The Agency shall determine the method of travel and shall reimburse or pay for those travel expenses.

# Section 4.

Criteria used to approve or deny training or education shall be based on the current Agency training policy and procedure. Training policies and procedures shall be reviewed and updated, if necessary, no less than every three years and shall be readily available to all employees. If a regular status employee desires reimbursement for course registration for training outside of the Agency, the employee must receive written approval from the Agency.

# ARTICLE 24 - WORKWEEK, WORKDAY AND WORK SCHEDULE

#### Section 1. Definitions.

The regular workweek is defined as seven (7) consecutive calendar days beginning on 12:01 a.m. on Monday and ending on the following Sunday at 12:00 midnight. A workday is the twenty-four (24) hour period beginning at 12:01 a.m. each day and ending at 12:00 midnight.

Alternate workweek schedules are defined as seven (7) consecutive calendar days beginning at 12:01 p.m. on Monday and ending on the following Monday at 12:00 noon, or beginning on 12:01 p.m. on Friday and ending on the following Friday at 12:00 noon; or a work schedule which may vary the number of hours worked on a daily basis, but not necessarily each day, and is four (4) or five (5) consecutive days beginning on 12:01 a.m. Monday and ending on the following Sunday at 12:00 midnight.

### Section 2.

A regular work schedule is five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days. Alternative work schedules are anything other than five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days.

### Section 3.

a. <u>Employees on a Regular Work Schedule</u>. A rest period of fifteen (15) minutes shall be allowed during each consecutive work period of four (4) hours or more. Such rest periods shall be in accordance with operating requirements. Each employee working an eight (8) hour day shall be allowed two (2) rest periods.

b. <u>Employees on an Alternative Work Schedule</u>. A rest period of fifteen (15) minutes shall be allowed during each consecutive work period of four (4) hours or more. Such rest periods shall be in accordance with operating requirements.

c. Employees expected to work two (2) or more overtime hours past their regular shift shall be entitled to a fifteen (15) minute rest period at the end of their regular shift and shall be entitled to rest periods as scheduled by the subsequent shift.

# Section 4.

All employees working at least an eight (8) hour workday shall be granted a nonduty meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes and not more than one (1) hour. Such meal period shall be scheduled as close as possible to the middle of the workday. Employees working less than an eight (8) hour workday may be granted a meal period as determined by the Agency.

#### Section 5.

Employees assigned by their supervisor to take a meal period at their desk or office will have their meal periods considered on-duty time.

#### Section 6.

An employee desiring a change in work schedule may request such change to his/her supervisor. If the supervisor approves the change in the employee's work schedule, the employee waives all rights to reporting pay, overtime compensation, and shift differential associated with the request.

# ARTICLE 24A - FLEXTIME

#### Section 1. DEFINITIONS

**Regular schedule** is five (5) consecutive eight-hour days recurring each week. **Alternative schedule** shall be any other full-time work schedule.

#### Section 2.

Work schedules shall be designated as either "regular" or "alternative." The starting and ending times during the week may vary to accommodate agency needs and specific individual needs (generally referred to as flex time). These needs include job assignments, department operational needs, transportation, child care and education related to career advancement. The starting and ending time shall be approved by the supervisor and shall not be prior to 7:00 a.m. and the ending time shall not be after 6:00 p.m. Any exception must be requested in writing and mutually agreed to by the employee and supervisor. Alternative scheduling agreed to will not impact or impair the Agency's ability to schedule or grant overtime, call-back, or other similar work assignment or scheduling.

### Section 3.

All alternative work schedules must be responsive to the operational needs of the work unit. This shall include responsiveness to others both within and outside the Agency from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. Such scheduling may vary to meet the operational needs for Vehicle Inspection Stations, the Regions, and Laboratory.

### Section 4.

Employees on all work schedules are expected to take a one-hour lunch break. Any employee who desires a shorter lunch break shall indicate such on a work schedule form. In no event shall the meal period be less than thirty (30) minutes. Statute requires that employees begin their lunch break no later than five (5) hours after starting work, in no event would this provision be superseded by a flex schedule. Current practice regarding accommodation for rest breaks shall continue.

#### Section 5.

Proposals for alternative work schedules may be initiated by a permanent or Limited Duration full-time status employee and must be approved by the Division Administrator. Prior to approval by the Division Administrator, work unit members will work together to prepare an alternative work schedule proposal and submit it to their immediate supervisor for review and concurrence. The manager of the unit will determine each employee's schedule within the unit to insure that the work unit operational needs are met. S/he will forward the agreed upon alternative schedule to the Division Administrator with a recommendation for approval. Trial Service employees may request an alternative work schedule where it can be demonstrated that the alternative schedule requested can be accommodated and appropriate supervision for a trial service employee is available.

# Section 6.

Where more than one (1) employee requests the same schedule and such schedule cannot be accommodated, preference will be granted on the basis of seniority within DEQ. Once a schedule has been granted, an employee may not be displaced by a more senior employee. Where seniority is the basis for a preferred alternative schedule, it may be used only once for the life of this agreement. New employees to the unit will be allowed to participate as can be reasonably accommodated within prior approved employees' schedules. Agency employees who transfer to a different unit cannot transfer their previously approved alliterative schedule also. They may be accommodated upon request where such request meets the operational needs of the work unit.

# Section 7.

Alternative work schedules will initially be approved for a period not to exceed one (1) year for regular status employees. A review of alternative schedules shall occur at least annually or as needed. At the time of review, individuals will not automatically have preferred allocation of the prior schedule as stipulated under section 6 above.

# Section 8.

An alternative schedule shall not allow an employee to work more than ten (10) regularly scheduled hours each day. Overtime for employees working an alternative schedule would start after forty (40) hours during a one (1) week scheduled work period. In any event, overtime must have prior approval or scheduled consistent with the intent of Article 35 - Overtime in the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

# Section 9.

During a work period when a compensable holiday occurs the employee will adjust his/her work schedule within the work week period to ensure a record of not to exceed forty (40) hours of paid time that includes the appropriate number of holiday hours that coincide with the defined work week. When the compensable holiday, or portion thereof, falls on the employee's scheduled flex day off, the employee and supervisor will mutually agree on an alternative and commensurate time off within the work week period. If at any time the operational needs of the work unit cannot be met, alternative schedules previously granted may be rescinded. Where such circumstances arise, the Agency shall notify the Union.

# Section 10.

The rejection of an alternative work schedule request is not arbitrable or grievable, however, an appeal procedure shall include the following:

a. Where an employee's request for an alternative schedule is denied, such denial will be in writing. In those instances, the supervisor will provide an explanation for the rejection. The affected employee may file an appeal in writing to the supervisor that denied his/her request within five (5) working days of the denial.

b. Within five (5) working days of receipt of the written appeal, a hearing panel must be convened to hear the appeal. The hearing panel will be comprised of two (2) union members and two (2) management staff. The decision of the panel is final and binding unless a deadlock occurs.

c. Where a deadlock does occur, the Director of the Department will make the final decision within five (5) working days of receipt of the deadlock. This decision is final and binding.

Section 11.

Nothing in this Article shall preclude the parties from conferring or agreeing on alternative work schedule Pilot Programs designed to meet desirable, or necessary, Agency objectives such as, but not limited to, reducing automobile commuter travel miles, meeting increased work demands within limited workspace, etc.

### **ARTICLE 25 - REPORTING TIME**

# Section 1.

Reporting time is the time designated or recognized as the start of the daily work shift or schedule.

### Section 2.

An employee's reporting time may be changed without penalty if the employee is notified a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours before the next regularly scheduled reporting time. If the employee's reporting time is changed without the required notice, the employee shall be entitled to penalty payment at time and one-half (1-1/2) for the first two (2) hours worked.

### Section 3.

An employee who is scheduled for work and reports for work shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours, except where the scheduled shift is less than four (4) hours in duration. Then the employee shall be paid for the hours scheduled.

### Section 4.

When a change in reporting time is requested by an employee and approved by the Agency, all forms of overtime compensation and reporting time pay associated with the changed schedule shall be waived.

# ARTICLE 26 - SCHEDULING COMPENSATORY TIME OFF

# Section 1.

Subject to the operating requirements of the Agency, an employee shall have his/her choice of scheduling compensatory time off on a first come, first served basis. If two (2) or more employees request the same period of time off on the same day, and this conflicts with operating requirements, the employee having the greatest seniority with the Agency shall be granted the time off, if the matter can not be resolved by agreement between the employees concerned. Compensatory time may be taken in time increments of less than eight (8) hours.

#### Section 2.

Compensatory time off shall be scheduled in accordance with standard procedures used for vacation leave and are subject to the provisions under the vacation leave Article.

#### Section 3.

An employee may accrue up to eighty (80) hours of compensatory time off. The Agency may allow accrual of additional hours of compensatory time off above eighty (80) hours if specifically requested by the employee. Any hours in excess of eighty (80) hours shall be paid to the employee by the Agency, or scheduled off with the mutual agreement of the supervisor and the employee, within thirty (30) days of the excess accrual.

### Section 4.

When an employee terminates employment with the Agency, the Agency shall pay all unused compensatory time hours to the employee in the last paycheck.

### **ARTICLE 27 - INCLEMENT CONDITIONS**

### Section 1.

In the event of inclement or hazardous conditions which, in the judgment of the Agency, require the closing of Agency offices or facilities prior to the beginning of the normal work shift, the Agency will take reasonable action through public and private communication means to notify employees of such closure. The employees may request and the Agency may grant the use of vacation leave, compensatory time or leave without pay to cover time loss under these situations. However, such reduction in salary will not be made for an FLSA exempt employee except for full work week increments where the Agency has determined there is not work available and absence of one (1) or more full work weeks occurs.

### Section 2.

In inclement weather conditions employees reporting late will be paid for the whole day in accordance to current practice.

### Section 3.

When, in the judgment of the Agency, inclement or hazardous conditions requires the closing of Agency offices or facilities after the beginning of the normal work shift, employees who reported to work prior to the decision to close the office or facility shall be paid for the remainder of the shift.

#### Section 4.

When Agency offices or facilities are open and weather conditions, in the judgment of the employee, change to inclement or hazardous, the employee may request leave to go home prior to the end of shift. Such leave is subject to supervisory approval and if granted the employee may request and the Employer may grant vacation leave, compensatory time, or leave without pay to cover such time loss.

#### Section 5.

When inclement or dangerous conditions require closure of DEQ office(s), a good faith effort will be made to use the media to broadcast such decisions.

# ARTICLE 28 - HOLIDAYS

#### Section 1.

The following compensable holidays shall be recognized:

- a. New Year's Day on January 1;
- b. Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday on the third Monday in January;
- c. President's Day on the third Monday in February;
- d. Memorial Day on the last Monday in May;

- e. Independence Day on July 4;
- f. Labor Day on the first Monday in September;
- g. Veterans Day on November 11;
- h. Thanksgiving Day on the fourth Thursday in November;
- i. Christmas Day on December 25;

j. Every day appointed by the Governor of the State of Oregon as a holiday or any special day proclaimed by the President of the United States as a holiday only if also appointed by the Governor of the State of Oregon as a holiday.

When a holiday specified in this Section falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be recognized as the holiday, except for employees in the classifications of Vehicle Emissions Technician 1 and Vehicle Emissions Technician 2. When a holiday specified in this Section falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be recognized as the holiday.

For employees in the classifications of Vehicle Emissions Technician I (VET I) or Vehicle Emissions Technician II (VET II), when a holiday specified in this Section falls on Saturday, the Saturday shall be the recognized holiday. During the work period when a compensable holiday occurs, the work schedules of employees in the classifications of VET I and VET II will be adjusted within the work week period to ensure a record of not to exceed forty (40) hours of paid time that includes the appropriate number of holiday hours.

# Section 2.

Full time employees, except those on leave without pay status for all scheduled hours the day before or the day after the recognized holiday, shall be compensated at the straight time rate for eight (8) hours for each recognized holiday listed in Section 1 and the additional paid leave described in Section 5. All part-time employees shall receive a prorated share of the eight (8) hours holiday pay based on the same percentage or fraction of month as they are normally scheduled to work. In any case, employees must be in paid status for thirty-two (32) hours or more during the month in order to be eligible for holiday compensation. This holiday compensation is called holiday pay. Recognized holidays which occur during vacation or sick leave will be charged as a holiday rather than vacation or sick leave.

# Section 3.

Employees who are required to work on recognized holidays shall be entitled to the holiday pay as provided for by Section 2 of this Article plus compensatory time off or cash for all such time worked at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2). The rate at which an employee shall be compensated for working on a holiday shall not exceed the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) in addition to holiday pay.

# Section 4.

An employee will receive compensatory time off for holiday time worked unless the employee requests, in writing, cash. The compensatory time accrual limits established in Article 26 (Scheduling of Compensatory Time Off) shall apply.

# Section 5.

In addition to the holidays specified in this Article, all full-time employees shall receive eight (8) hours of paid leave. Part-time employees will receive prorated paid leave. Paid leave granted in this section shall be accrued by all employees employed as of the day before Thanksgiving or Christmas of each year.

Except for employees in the classifications of Vehicle Emissions Technician 1 and Vehicle Emissions Technician 2, all other employees may request the option of using the eight (8) hours of paid leave on the workday before or after Christmas, or the workday before or after New Year's Day.

For employees in the classifications of Vehicle Emissions Technician 1 and Vehicle Emissions Technician 2, the eight (8) hours of paid leave shall be used as follows: If December 25 falls on a Sunday, the preceding Saturday (December 24); Monday, the preceding Saturday (December 23); Tuesday, the preceding Monday (December 24); Wednesday, the preceding Tuesday (December 24); Thursday, the preceding Wednesday (December 24); Friday, the following Saturday (December 26); Saturday, the preceding Friday (December 24).

All employees who are employed as of the day before Thanksgiving may request the option of using this paid leave on the workday before or after Thanksgiving.

If the employee chooses not to take one of the aforementioned days, another day may be mutually agreed upon, provided such time is taken off by January 5<sup>th</sup> of the following year.

#### Section 6.

During the workweek in which a compensable holiday occurs, in order to maintain a fortyhour workweek, an employee on an alternate work schedule may elect to use accrued vacation, personal business or comp time leave to cover the work schedule hours during the designated holiday in excess of eight (8) hours. In lieu of using accrued leave, an employee may adjust their work hours during the workweek in which the holiday occurs to maintain a forty-hour workweek.

# ARTICLE 29 - VACATION LEAVE

#### Section 1. Vacation Leave for Full-Time Employees.

After having served in the State service for six (6) full months, full-time classified employees shall be credited with forty-eight (48) hours of vacation leave and thereafter vacation leave shall be accumulated as follows:

After six (6) months through fifth (5th) year	Twelve (12) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service (eight (8) hours per month)
After fifth (5th) year through tenth (10th) year	Fifteen (15) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service (ten (10) hours per month)
After tenth (10th) year through fifteenth (15th) year	Eighteen (18) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service (twelve (12) hours per month)
After fifteenth (15th) year through twentieth (20th) year	Twenty-one (21) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service (fourteen (14) hours per month)
After twentieth (20th) year	Twenty-four (24) workdays for each

twelve (12) full months of service (sixteen (16) hours per month)

A full-time employee working less than a full month shall accrue vacation leave on a pro rata basis, provided that the employee works thirty-two (32) hours or more in that month. If an employee has a break in service and that break does not exceed two (2) years, the employee shall be given credit for the time worked prior to the break in service. Vacation Leave shall not accrue during a Leave of Absence Without Pay (LWOP), the duration of which exceeds fifteen (15) calendar days.

Section 2. Vacation Leave for Part-Time Employees.

A part-time employee shall accrue vacation leave and shall earn eligibility for additional vacation credits only in those months during which the employee has worked thirty-two (32) hours or more. Such leave shall be accrued on a pro rata basis as follows:

First (1st) month through sixtieth (60th) month	Twelve (12) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service (eight (8) hours per month)
Sixty-first (61st) month through	Fifteen (15) workdays for each
one hundred & twentieth	twelve (12) full months of service
(120th) month	(ten (10) hours per month)
One hundred & twenty-first (121st) month	Eighteen (18) workdays for each
through one hundred & eightieth	twelve (12) full months of service
(180th) month	(twelve (12) hours per month)
One hundred & eighty-first (181st)	Twenty-one (21) workdays for each
month through two hundred & fortieth	twelve (12) full months of service
(240th) month	(fourteen (14) hours per month)
After two hundred & fortieth (240th) month (sixteen (16) hours per month)	Twenty-four (24) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service

A part-time employee shall not be eligible to take initial vacation leave until the employee has worked thirty-two (32) hours or more in each of six (6) calendar months. Vacation leave shall not accrue during a leave of absence without pay, the duration of which exceeds fifteen (15) calendar days.

# Section 3. Vacation Leave for Seasonal Employees.

After having served a combination of seasonal periods totaling six (6) full months (a minimum of one thousand forty (1,040) hours,) seasonal employees shall be credited with forty-eight (48) hours of vacation. In accumulating this initial six (6) months of service, time worked prior to a break in service may be credited if the break does not exceed two (2) seasons. An employee may not be credited with more than one (1) season during a calendar year. Thereafter, vacation leave shall be accumulated as follows:

After a total of six (6) months (a minimum of one thousand & forty (1,040) hours) through fifth (5th) annual season	Twelve (12) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service (eight (8) hours per month)
After fifth (5th) annual season through tenth (10th) annual season (ten (10) hours per month)	Fifteen (15) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service
After tenth (10th) annual season through fifteenth (15th) annual season (twelve (12) hours per month)	Eighteen (18) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service
After fifteenth (15th) annual season through twentieth (20th) annual season (fourteen (14) hours per month)	Twenty-one (21) workdays for each twelve (12) full months of service
After twentieth (20th) annual season twelve (12) full months of service	Twenty-four (24) workdays for each (sixteen (16) hours per month)

Vacation leave shall not accrue during a leave of absence without pay, the duration of which exceeds fifteen (15) calendar days.

#### Section 4. Eligibility for Vacation Credits.

Time spent by an employee in actual State service or on Peace Corps, military, or job-incurred disability leave without pay shall be considered as time in the State service in determining length of service for vacation credits.

#### Section 5. Restoration of Vacation Leave Credits.

All time in the exempt or unclassified service, shall be counted as long as there is not a break in service of more than two (2) years in determining the level of accrual.

#### Section 6. Termination Vacation Pay.

An employee who is laid off or terminates after six (6) full months of Agency service shall be paid upon separation from Agency service for accrued vacation time except as provided as offset for damages or misappropriation of State property or equipment. Employees on military leave of absence may request payment for accrued vacation.

#### Section 7. Scheduling of Vacations.

Vacations shall be scheduled at a time mutually acceptable to the Agency and the employee and consistent with the work requirements of the Agency.

Section 8. Vacation Accrual.

An employee shall be allowed to accumulate a maximum of three hundred (300) hours of vacation leave; however, in the event of separation or layoff any unused vacation up to twohundred and fifty (250) hours will be paid to the employee. An employee transferring in from another State agency may transfer up to eighty (80) hours of accrued vacation leave. Where vacation leave is requested and denied resulting in loss of leave, the employee shall be authorized to cash out forty (40) hours of vacation leave accrued.

### Section 9.

If the Agency cancels an Agency approved vacation in which unrecoverable deposits have been paid by an employee, the Agency shall reimburse the employee for the deposits. The Agency shall require written proof of unrecoverable deposits.

### Section 10.

Compensation for use of accrued vacation shall be at the employee's prevailing straight rate of pay.

### Section 11.

In the event of an employee's death, all monies due him/her for accrued vacation and salary shall be paid as provided by law.

### Section 12.

a. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the Employer shall not require an employee to substitute any paid leave earned under this Agreement for unpaid leave taken under the FMLA without the consent of the employee.

b. Part-time employees who would otherwise qualify for leave under the FMLA, but for the number of hours worked, may request leave without pay without first exhausting their accrued paid leave, subject to the same notice, documentation and other limitations and conditions applicable to full-time employees.

# ARTICLE 30 - SICK LEAVE

Section 1. Accrual Rate of Sick Leave With Pay Credits.

Employees shall accrue eight (8) hours of sick leave with pay credits for each full month worked. Employees who work less than the full month but at least thirty-two (32) hours during the month shall accrue sick leave with pay on a pro rata basis for the month.

#### Section 2. Eligibility for Sick Leave With Pay.

Employees shall be eligible for sick leave with pay immediately upon accrual.

#### Section 3. Determination of Service for Sick Leave With Pay.

Actual time worked and all leave with pay shall be included in determining the pro rata accrual of sick leave credits each month, provided that the employee works thirty-two (32) hours or more in that month.

Section 4. Utilization of Sick Leave With Pay.

Employees who have earned sick leave credits shall be eligible for sick leave for any period of absence from employment which is due to the employee's illness, bodily injury, disability resulting from pregnancy, necessity for medical or dental care, exposure to contagious disease, attendance upon members of the employee's immediate family (employee's parents, wife, husband, children, brother, sister, grandmother, grandfather, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or another member of the immediate household) where employee's presence is required because of illness or death in the immediate family of the employee or the employee's spouse. The Agency has the duty to require that the employee make other arrangements, within a reasonable period of time, for the attendance upon children or other persons in the employee's care. Certification of an attending physician or practitioner may be required by the Agency to support the employee's claim for sick leave, if the employee is absent in excess of seven (7) days, or if the Agency has evidence that the employee to determine whether the employee should be allowed to return to work where the Agency has reason to believe that the employee is abusing sick leave privileges. The Agency may also require such certificate from an employee or to others.

#### Section 5. Sick Leave With Pay on Termination.

Compensation for accrued sick leave shall not be paid to an employee on termination for any reason.

#### Section 6. Restoration of Sick Leave Credits.

Employees who have been separated from the State Service and return to a position within two (2) years shall have unused sick leave credits accrued during previous employment restored.

### Section 7. Sick Leave Without Pay.

After earned sick leave has been exhausted and the employee has the opportunity in writing to exercise the option of using accumulative time as outlined in Article 41, the Agency shall grant sick leave without pay for any job-incurred injury or illness for a period which shall terminate upon demand by the employee for reinstatement accompanied by a certificate issued by a duly licensed attending physician that the employee is physically and/or mentally able to perform the duties of that position. No compensatory time, vacation time or other accumulated time shall be deducted from the employee's time unless directed by the employee in writing. If such direction is not given by the employee, leave without pay shall be granted.

After earned sick leave has been exhausted, the Agency may grant sick leave without pay or the use of other accrued leave for any non-job-incurred injury or illness.

The Agency may require that the employee submit a certificate from the attending physician or practitioner in verification of disability. Any cost associated with the supplying of a certificate concerning a job-incurred injury or illness that is not covered by Workers' Compensation benefits shall be borne by the Agency. Any cost associated with the supplying of a certificate concerning a non-job-incurred injury or illness shall be borne by the employee. In the event of a failure or refusal to supply such a certificate, or if the certificate does not clearly show sufficient disability to preclude that employee from the performance of duties, such sick leave may be canceled and the employee's service terminated.

Section 8.

An employee shall have all of his/her accrued sick leave credits transferred when the employee is transferred to the Agency from a different State agency. An employee shall have all of his/her accrued sick leave credits transferred when the employee is transferred to a different State agency if allowed by that agency's rules or Collective Bargaining Agreement.

#### Section 9. FMLA

a. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the Agency shall not require an employee to substitute any paid leave earned under this Agreement for unpaid leave taken under the FMLA without the consent of the employee.

b. Part-time employees who would otherwise qualify for leave under the FMLA, but for the number of hours worked, may request leave without pay without first exhausting their accrued paid leave, subject to the same notice, documentation and other limitations and conditions applicable to full-time employees.

## ARTICLE 31 - OTHER LEAVES

### Section 1. Leaves With Pay.

a. <u>Personal Leave</u>. After completion of trial service, regular, permanent, full-time employees shall be entitled to sixteen (16) hours of personal leave with pay for each fiscal year. Part-time, job-share, and seasonal employees shall be granted up to sixteen (16) hours of personal leave on a pro rata basis if it is anticipated they will work one thousand and forty (1,040) hours for the fiscal year. Should a part-time, job-share, or seasonal employee fail to work one thousand and forty (1,040) hours for the first fiscal year, the value of personal leave time used may be recovered from the employee. Personal leave shall not be cumulative from year to year nor is any unused leave compensable in any other manner. Such leave may be taken at times mutually agreeable to the Agency and the employee.

b. <u>Pre-Retirement Counseling Leave</u>. If an employee is fifty-five (55)years of age or older or at least forty (40) years old and within ten (10) years of his/her chosen retirement date, he/she shall be granted up to twenty-eight (28) hours leave with pay to pursue bona fide pre-retirement counseling programs. However, an employee may draw up to eight (8) hours of his/her twenty-eight (28) hours of preretirement counseling leave after completion of ten (10) years of service prior to reaching age fifty-five (55) or ten (10) years from retirement. Employees shall request the use of leave provided in this Section at least five (5) days prior to the intended day of use.

Authorization for the use of pre-retirement leave shall not be withheld unless the Agency determines that the use of such leave shall handicap the efficiency of the employee's work unit.

When the date requested for pre-retirement leave cannot be granted for the above reason, the Agency shall offer a choice from three (3) other sets of dates. The leave discussed under this Section may be used to investigate and assemble the employee's retirement program, including PERS, Social Security, Insurance, and other retirement income.

c. <u>Service With A Jury.</u> An employee shall be granted leave with pay for service with a jury. The employee may keep any money paid by the court for serving on a jury. The Agency reserves the right to petition for removal of the employee from jury duty if, in the Agency's judgment, the operating requirements of the Agency would be hampered.

d. <u>Court Appearances.</u> When any employee is not the plaintiff or defendant, he/she shall be granted leave with pay for appearance before a court, legislative committee or judicial or

quasi-judicial body as a witness in response to a subpoena or other direction by proper authority for matters other than the employee's officially assigned duties. The employee may keep any money paid in connection with the appearance.

e. <u>Military Training Leave</u>. An employee who has served with the State of Oregon or its counties, municipalities or other political subdivisions for six (6) months or more immediately preceding an application for military leave, and who is a member of the National Guard or of any reserve components of the armed forces of the United States is entitled to a leave of absence with pay for a period not exceeding fifteen (15) calendar days or eleven (11) workdays in any training year. If the training time for which the employee is called to active duty is longer than fifteen (15) calendar days, the employee may be paid for the first fifteen (15) days only if such time is served for the purpose of discharging an obligation of annual active duty for training in the military reserve or National Guard. For the purposes of this section, "training year" means the federal fiscal year for any particular unit of the National Guard or a reserve component.

f. <u>Test and Interview Leave</u>. With notice to the supervisor, an employee shall be allowed appropriate time off with pay to take tests related to promotional opportunities within the Agency; up to two (2) hours with pay shall be allowed for an interview for a position with another State agency or a position within the Agency.

Authorization for the use of test and interview leave shall not be withheld unless the Agency determines that the use of such leave shall handicap the efficiency of the employee's work unit.

g. <u>Hardship Leave</u>. Employee(s) within the Agency may transfer accumulated vacation leave or Comp Time in blocks of two (2) hours or more to another employee of the agency provided:

1. The employee receiving the transferred leave has exhausted all but twenty (20) hours of accrued paid leaves as a result of recuperating from extended and continuous illness, injury, or similar catastrophic event. Accrued paid leaves include, but are not limited to sick, vacation, personal, and compensatory leave accruals.

2. The recipient of the transferred leave is not otherwise qualified for workers' compensation coverage, disability insurance or retirement benefits. Eligibility for other such entitlements would preclude an otherwise eligible employee from receiving donated leave. Entitlement for Hardship Leave is not intended to supplant or otherwise diminish an employee's responsibility for prudent planning.

3. No Hardship Leave shall be granted solely for the birth or adoption of a child except in the case of circumstances of extended and continuous illness, injury or similar catastrophic event.

4. Applications for hardship leave shall be in writing and sent to the Agency's Human Resources Section and accompanied by the treating physician's written statement certifying the illness or injury will continue for at least fourteen (14) days following the donee's projected exhaustion of all but twenty (20) hours of accrued leave. Upon determination that the employee's request qualifies for hardship leave, Human Resources will issue one (1) request for leave donations per qualifying event.

5. Donated leave shall be credited to the sick leave balance of the receiving employee on a dollar-for-dollar exchange basis.

6. The donated leave once posted to the donee's sick leave account is unrecoverable by the donor. All donated leave will be used as sick leave.

7. Cross-donating between management and unrepresented employees may occur if mutually agreed to by the parties.

35

Employees on Trial Service shall have that Vacation Leave time which has been credited to their leave balance available for use in circumstances that would qualify them to use Hardship Leave. Such employees must exhaust that Vacation Leave before they may receive donated leave.

h. <u>Bereavement Leave</u>. An employee who has exhausted all other paid leaves, and who needs leave because his or her presence is required due to a death in the immediate family (as defined in Article 30, Section 4), may receive donated leave as described in subsection g., paragraphs 4, 5 and 6 above. The Agency shall establish and maintain a bank of donated leave from which an employee who has exhausted all other paid leaves may draw up to five (5) days (40 hours) leave solely for bereavement purposes. Employees may donate leave to this bank as described in sub-section g. above. Individuals may make use of leave from this bank by submitting a request in writing to the Human Resources Manager.

### Section 2. Leaves Without Pay.

a. Military Leave Without Pay. An employee in the State service shall be entitled to a military leave of absence without pay during a period of service with the armed forces of the United States. However, such reduction in salary will not be made for an FLSA exempt employee on temporary military leave except for full work week increments where such leave causes an absence of one (1) or more full work weeks. He/she shall, upon honorable discharge from such service, be returned to a position in the same class as his/her last held position, at the salary rate prevailing for such class, without loss of seniority or employment rights. Employees shall make application for reinstatement within ninety (90) days and shall report for duty within six (6) months following separation from active duty. Failure to comply may terminate military leave. If it is established that he/she is not physically qualified to perform the duties of his/her former position by reason of such service, he/she shall be reinstated in other work that he/she is able to perform at the nearest appropriate level of pay of his/her former class. An employee voluntarily or involuntarily seeking military leave without pay to attend service school shall be entitled to such leave during a period of active duty training. Military leaves of absence without pay shall be aranted in compliance with the Veterans' Reemployment Rights Law, Title 38 USC Chapter 43.

b. <u>Court Appearance Leave Without Pay.</u> An employee may request and shall be granted leave without pay for the time required to make an appearance as a plaintiff or defendant in a civil or criminal court proceeding that is not connected with the employee's officially assigned duties. However, such reduction in salary will not be made for an FLSA exempt employee on temporary military leave except for full work week increments where such leave causes an absence of one (1) or more full work weeks.

c. <u>Employee Leave</u>. In instances where the work of the Agency will not be handicapped by the temporary absence of an employee, the employee shall be granted a leave of absence without pay or educational leave without pay for up to one (1) year, subject to Agency approval.

An employee may take up to fifteen (15) days of leave of absence without pay each calendar year, without first exhausting his or her accumulated paid leave, for professional or career development, including union functions or activities, subject to the employee providing at least fifteen (15) days notice prior to the leave's commencement notification of the leave to payroll no later than the twentieth (20<sup>th</sup>) of the month in which the leave is to be taken and the operating requirements of the agency.

d. <u>Parental Leave</u>. A parent shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed six (6) months, dependent upon Agency workload

requirements, to care for a new baby. Extensions beyond the six (6) months or alternate work schedules may be arranged by mutual agreement between employee and supervisor.

### ARTICLE 32 - POSITION DESCRIPTIONS/WORK PLANS

#### Section 1. Position Descriptions.

Position descriptions shall be in writing and delineate the specific duties assigned to the position. A dated copy of the position description shall be given to the employee upon assuming the position and at such time as the position description is amended. Any amendments which change responsibility sufficiently to warrant a classification change will be subject to the provisions of Article 18 (Classification and Classification Changes).

The position description shall be subject to an annual review with the employee. Nothing contained herein shall compromise the right or the responsibility of the Agency to assign work consistent with the classification specification.

#### Section 2. Work Plans.

All employees shall have a written work plan within thirty (30) days. Each work plan shall delineate specific work and work related areas to be evaluated during the appraisal period, and shall be based on realistic expectations.

#### Section 3. Work Improvement Plans.

Work improvement plans may be initiated and written for those employees who have less than acceptable job performance. The work improvement plan will delineate specific work and/or work related areas to be corrected and improved.

The parties acknowledge that a work improvement plan is a tool whereby the Employer can communicate to an employee areas of the employee's performance which are deficient, how the problem(s) is to be rectified, and that failure to rectify the problem(s) may lead to disciplinary action. However, the parties agree that the work improvement plan is not, nor is it to be used as, a disciplinary action.

## ARTICLE 33 - PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

### Section 1. Performance Appraisal.

The employee's performance will be rated by his/her immediate excluded supervisor. The rater shall discuss the performance appraisal with the employee. The employee shall have the opportunity to provide his/her comments to be attached to the performance appraisal. The employee shall sign the performance appraisal and that signature shall only indicate that the employee has read the performance appraisal. A copy shall be provided the employee at this time.

### Section 2.

If there are changes made in the performance appraisal after discussion with and signature by the employee, the revised appraisal will be rediscussed with the employee. The employee shall have the opportunity to comment on and shall sign the revised appraisal. That signature shall only indicate that the employee has read the performance appraisal. A copy shall be provided to the employee at this time. All written comments provided by the employee within thirty (30) days of the evaluation shall be attached to the performance evaluation. Performance evaluations are not grievable nor arbitrable under this Agreement nor shall they be used for purposes of disciplinary action, layoff, annual eligibility date performance pay increases. They will only be used to assist in the evaluation of an employee's performance.

### Section 3.

Every employee shall receive a performance appraisal at the end of a trial service period, and at least annually thereafter.

## Section 4.

Salary administration shall be based upon a performance-based system. Employees shall be granted an annual performance pay increase on their eligibility date if the employee is not at the top of the salary range of their classification, and provided the employee's performance has not been deficient. Employees who do not receive an annual performance pay increase shall receive timely notice of deficient performance or conduct during the evaluation period. Employees shall receive a notice related to the deficiencies as they are noted prior to the completion of the performance evaluation period. Such notice shall provide the employee with reasonable opportunity to correct the problem prior to the end of the evaluation period.

Performance Based Pay shall use the following criteria:

- a. Classification specifications developed and promulgated by the Department.
- b. An individual position description, reduced to writing.

c. Written memoranda including Letters of Instruction when necessary. Work Plans will not be accepted as a substitute for notice of deficiencies.

d. Disciplinary action.

The above criteria shall be the primary factors upon which an employee's performance is judged and upon which annual performance pay decisions are determined.

Employees shall be eligible for performance increases at the first of the month following intervals as prescribed under Article 34, Section 1 of this Agreement.

### Section 5.

The Agency will strive to insure consistency, fairness and equity when performance appraisals are composed and presented.

## **ARTICLE 34 - SALARY ADMINISTRATION**

Section 1. Merit Salary Increase.

Employees shall be eligible for consideration for merit salary increases following:

a. Completion of the initial twelve (12) months of service.

b. Completion of six (6) months of service following promotion.

c. Annual periods after (a) or (b) above until the employee has reached the top of the salary range.

Merit salary increases shall be made upon recommendation of the employee's immediate supervisor and approval of the appointing authority. The immediate supervisor shall give written notice to an employee of withholding of a merit salary increase prior to the eligibility date, including a statement of the reason(s) it is being withheld.

Section 2. Salary on Demotion.

Whenever an employee demotes to a job classification in a lower range that has a salary rate the same as the previous salary, the employee's salary shall be maintained at that rate in the lower range.

Whenever an employee demotes to a job classification in a salary range which does not have corresponding salary steps with the employee's previous salary but is within the new salary range, the employee's salary shall be maintained at the current rate until the next eligibility date. At the employee's next eligibility date, if qualified, the employee shall be granted a salary rate increase of one (1) full step within the new salary range plus that amount that the current salary rate is below the next higher rate in the new salary range. This increase shall not exceed the highest rate in the new salary range.

Whenever an employee demotes to a job classification in a lower range, but the employee's salary is above the highest step for that range, the employee shall be paid at the highest step in the new salary range.

This Section shall not apply to demotions resulting from official disciplinary actions.

#### Section 3. Salary on Promotion.

An employee shall be given an increase to the next higher rate in the new salary range effective on the date of promotion.

#### Section 4. Salary on Lateral Transfer.

An employee's salary and merit review date shall at a minimum remain the same when transferring from one position to another which has the same salary range.

#### Section 5. Effect of Break in Service.

When an employee separates from the Agency and subsequently returns to the Agency, except as a temporary employee, the employee's previous salary eligibility date shall be adjusted by the amount of break in service.

### Section 6. Rate of Pay on Appointment from Layoff List.

When an individual is appointed from a layoff list to a position in the same class in which the person was previously employed, the person shall be paid at the same salary step at which such employee was being paid at the time of layoff.

## ARTICLE 35 - OVERTIME

#### Section 1.

This Article is intended only to provide a basis for the calculation of overtime and none of its provisions shall be construed as a guarantee of any minimum or maximum hours of work or weeks of work to any employee or to any group of employees.

### Section 2.

Time worked for the purpose of this Agreement is all hours actually worked including any paid leave. On-call, penalty payments, or spill response stand by shall not be counted as time worked.

#### Section 3.

Eligible employees as defined by FLSA, shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) in the form of pay or compensatory time off for authorized overtime worked in excess of forty (40) hours in any one (1) workweek. No application of this Article shall be construed or interpreted to provide for compensation for overtime at a rate exceeding time and one-half, or to effect "pyramiding" of overtime and penalty payments.

## Section 4.

The Agency shall give reasonable notice of any overtime to be worked. Overtime worked will be subject to prior authorization. Prior authorization may be granted on a case by case basis, or in general, based on a common situation.

### Section 5.

Eligible employees shall receive compensatory time off for overtime worked, unless an employee requests, in writing, to receive cash. The accrual limit of compensatory time off shall be subject to Article 26, Scheduling of Compensatory Time Off. Overtime worked will be paid in accordance with payroll administration procedures.

## Section 6.

Grievances which grieve the eligibility of employees for overtime shall follow the procedure in Article 13, Steps 1 and 2. If the grievance is still unresolved after Step 2, the affected employee may file a charge with the Bureau of Labor and Industries (BOLI), Wage and Hour Division, or with the U. S. Department of Labor (DOL). If no response is given by BOLI or DOL within ninety (90) days, the employee may proceed with a grievance to arbitration if necessary.

### Section 7.

Employees not covered under FLSA shall receive time off for authorized time worked in excess of a forty (40) hour workweek at the rate of one hour off for each hour over forty (40) in a workweek, unless the employee elects to receive cash.

### **ARTICLE 36 - SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL**

### Section 1.

An employee, who is not in paid overtime status for time worked, shall be paid an additional differential of six percent (6%) of base pay per hour for each hour or major portion (thirty minutes or more) thereof worked between 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. and for each hour or major portion (thirty minutes or more) thereof worked on Saturday and Sunday.

### Section 2.

This Article shall not apply when an employee is on any paid leave condition or on-call duty.

### ARTICLE 37 - ON-CALL

### Section 1.

An employee shall be on-call when authorized by his/her supervisor and required to be available for work outside his/her normal working hours and not subject to restrictions which would prevent the employee from using the time while on-call effectively for the employee's own purposes. An employee on-call is required to leave word with the Agency where he/she can be contacted during a specified period of time or may be required to carry a pager. The employee is required and must be prepared to commence full-time work as soon as possible consistent with non-restricted status if the need arises.

### Section 2.

On-call time is not time worked for purposes of this Agreement.

## Section 3.

An employee shall not be on-call once he/she actually commences performing assigned duties and receives the appropriate rate of pay for time worked.

## Section 4.

Employees shall be paid one (1) hour of pay at the regular straight time rate for each six (6) hours of assigned on-call duty. Employees who are assigned on-call duty for less than six (6) hours shall be paid on a prorated basis.

## Section 5.

This Article shall not apply to employees who have been formally assigned by the Agency, in writing, to be on-call for, and to perform "off-hour" Spill Response Duties.

## ARTICLE 38 - CALL BACK COMPENSATION

## Section 1.

Call back is an occasion where an employee has been released from duty and is called back prior to his/her normal starting time. It is distinguished from overtime work which is essentially a continuation of the scheduled work shift, or distinguished from a change in an employee's reporting time.

## Section 2.

An employee who is called back to work outside his/her regular shift, will receive overtime compensation in accordance with the Overtime Article of this Agreement for hours actually worked; but in no event will the employee be paid less than four (4) hours at the straight time rate of pay.

### Section 3.

This Article shall not apply to employees who have been formally assigned by the Agency, in writing, to be on-call for, and to perform "off-hour" Spill Response Duties.

## ARTICLE 39 - LEADWORK DIFFERENTIAL

## Section 1.

Leadwork Differential shall be defined as a differential as indicated in Section 4 below. Leadwork applies for employees who have been assigned "leadwork" duties, in writing, by their supervisor. Leadwork is where, on a recurring basis, while performing regularly assigned duties, the employee has been assigned Person-in-Charge duties and/or all of the following functions: a. Orient new employees, or train employees in new work methods, or transmit established standards of performance to workers; and

- b. Assign and reassign tasks; and
- c. Review work of employees to ensure conformance with work standards.

### Section 2.

When leadwork is assigned for at least five (5) consecutive workdays, the employee shall be compensated for all hours worked beginning from the first day of the assignment and for the full period of that particular assignment.

## Section 3.

Leadwork Differential shall not apply to voluntary training and development purposes which are mutually agreed in writing between the supervisor and employee.

## Section 4.

The differential shall be five percent (5%) above the employee's current monthly based rate of pay.

## Section 5.

"Back-up" Lead Workers within the Vehicle Inspection Program shall be compensated with a differential of \$1.00 per hour for all hours assigned to work in that capacity.

## ARTICLE 40 - HEALTH AND DENTAL INSURANCE

### Section 1.

An Employer contribution will be made for each eligible employee who has at least eighty (80) paid regular hours in the month. The contribution for eligible participating part-time employees with eighty (80) or more hours paid time for the month will be prorated based on the ratio of paid regular hours to full-time hours to the nearest full percent.

Effective January 1, 2001 and for plan years beginning January 1, 2002 and 2003, the Employer shall make the following contributions in full for full-time employees who have at least eighty (80) paid regular hours in a month:

Employee	\$387.14
Employee and Spouse	\$520.12
Employee and Child(ren)	\$443.59
Employee and Family	\$531.97

### Section 2. Plan Year 2001.

The Employer contribution shall be sufficient to cover the Public Employees Benefit Board's (PEBB) prototype plans and basic dental coverage within each tier as designated by PEBB annually for the employee and family. An employee may choose not to participate in a prototype plan and may select a plan of greater or lesser premium cost. If the employee selects a plan of greater cost, there may be out of pocket monthly expense to the employee. If the employee selects a plan of lesser cost, the employee may receive cash back. The amount of any out of pocket or cash back cost will be determined by PEBB. The Employer insurance contribution for plan year 2001 will be based on the composite of the PEBB prototype contribution tiers. The Employer contribution shall be sufficient to cover the PEBB prototype plans and basic dental coverage within each tier as designated by PEBB annually for the employee and family. An employee may choose not to participate in a prototype plan and may select a plan of greater or lesser premium cost. If the employee selects a plan of greater cost, there may be out of pocket monthly expense to the employee. If the employee selects a plan of lesser cost, the employee may receive cash back. The amount of any out of pocket or cash back cost will be determined by the PEBB.

#### Section 3. Plan Year 2002.

For Plan Year January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002, the dollar difference between the above Employer monthly contribution for each tier and the premium cost of the plan selected by the employee will be paid by the Employer as a subsidy so that there is no out-of-pocket premium cost to the eligible employee for health and dental insurance, regardless of tier or plan choice. These subsides are based on a PEBB estimated composite

#### Section 4. Plan Year 2003.

For plan year beginning January 1, 2003 through December 31, 2003, the Employer will increase the subsidy paid during plan year 2002 to meet increases in premium costs for PEBB medical and dental plans for plan year 2003, but only up to a maximum amount comparable to an average statewide subsidy increase of \$85.00 per eligible employee.

Should the additional subsidy amount be insufficient funds to cover full premium costs, the PEBB, in its sole discretion, may decide to use the PEBB reserve funds to cover any additional subsidy beyond the \$85.00. If PEBB does not release sufficient reserves, the parties agree to delay implementation of the effective date of the February 1, 2003 salary increase by one month or as agreed to by the parties.

If spending the full \$85.00 subsidy is not necessary to provide coverage with no out of pocket health and dental premium costs to all eligible employees, the parties agree to early implementation of the February 1, 2003 salary increase as provided herein. For every \$15.00 reduction in the average subsidy expense, the February 1, 2003 salary implementation date shall be moved forward one month.

### ARTICLE 41 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION

#### Section 1.

An employee who sustained a compensable injury shall be reinstated by the Agency to the employee's former position of employment upon demand for such reinstatement, provided that the position is available and the employee is not disabled from performing the duties of such position. If the former position is not available, the employee shall be offered reinstatement in the first position which the Agency determines is available and suitable for the employee. If the Agency notifies the employee that the Agency has determined that more than one position is available and suitable for the employee, the employee may select the position of his/her choice from those determined by the Agency to be available and suitable for the employee. If the Agency determines that no position is available and suitable and the employee disagrees, then the matter may be considered under the provisions of Article 13 of this Agreement.

#### Section 2.

If the employee is released by the attending physician for return to "light duty" assignment, and is expected to be able to resume full duties of his/her previous position within ninety (90) days, the Agency may offer such work as the employee is capable of performing and which is available during that ninety (90) day period. Such short term assignments shall be made without regard to procedures for Lateral Transfer. If the employee refuses such assignment, the Agency will notify SAIF of the refusal. The Agency will not modify duties to create a light duty assignment if this would create an unreasonable hardship to other employees. Such light duty work may not be limited to the immediate work unit.

#### Section 3.

A certificate by a duly licensed physician that the physician approves the employee's return to his/her regular employment shall be prima facie evidence that the employee is able to perform such duties.

#### Section 4.

Salary paid for a period of sick leave resulting from a condition incurred on the job and also covered by Workers' Compensation, shall be equal to the difference between the Workers' Compensation for lost time and the employee's regular salary rate. In such instances, prorated charges will be made against accrued sick leave. An employee who has exhausted earned sick leave shall have the option to use accumulated compensatory time and vacation leave during the period in which Workers' Compensation is being received, and the salary paid for such a period shall be equal to the difference between the Workers' Compensation for lost time and the employee's regular salary rate. In such instances, prorated charges will be made against accrued vacation and/or compensatory time.

### ARTICLE 42 - UNIFORMS

If an employee is required by the Agency to wear a uniform(s) the Agency shall provide the uniform(s). When a uniform(s) is provided by the Agency the employee must wear the uniform(s) and provide reasonable care for, and maintenance of the uniform(s). When the Agency provides a uniform(s) which the Agency wishes dry cleaned, the Agency will determine and direct the method and frequency of such dry cleaning as well as pay for such dry cleaning.

### ARTICLE 43 - TRAVEL AND MILEAGE ALLOWANCE

Reimbursements and procedures will be in accordance with Oregon Accounting Manual, Policy No. 40.10.00 PO, and its successors. Changes in this policy will be automatically incorporated into this contract article.

### ARTICLE 44 - MOVING EXPENSES

Moving expense reimbursement claims will be governed by the Department of Administrative Services, Human Resource Services Division Policy 40.055.10, and its successors. Changes in this policy will be automatically incorporated into this contract article.

#### ARTICLE 45 - PARKING

If there are any changes in parking rates for employees at any Agency owned or operated parking facility which are directly controlled by the Agency, the Employer shall provide the opportunity for the Union to offer input in the determination of such rates. The Union will be afforded the opportunity to offer suggestions, make recommendations and introduce any data deemed appropriate.

#### ARTICLE 46 - SALARIES

Section 1.

The Employer shall continue to "pick up," assume, and pay a six percent (6%) average employee contribution to the Public Employees Retirement Fund for the employee members participating in the Public Employees Retirement System on the effective date of this Agreement. Such Employer "pick up" or payment of the employee member monthly contributions to the System shall continue for the life of this Agreement.

The full amount of required employee contributions "picked up" or paid by the Employer on behalf of employees pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered as "salary" within the meaning of ORS 238.005(11) for purposes of computing an employee member's "final average salary" within the meaning of ORS 238.005(15) but shall not be considered as "salary" for the purposes of determining the amount of employee contributions required to be contributed pursuant to ORS 238.200. Such Employer "picked up" or paid employee contributions shall be credited to employee accounts pursuant to ORS 238.200(2) and shall be considered to be employee contributions for the purposes of ORS 238.005 to 238.750.

If, by reason of a change in law, valid ballot measure, constitutional amendment, or a final, non-appealable judgment from a court of competent jurisdiction, the Employer must discontinue the 6% "pickup" of the employee's contributions to the PERS Fund, the Employer shall increase by 6% the base salary rates for each classification in the salary schedules. This transition shall be done in a manner to assume continuous payment of either the 6% pickup or a 6% salary increase.

For the reasons indicated above, or by mutual agreement, should the State cease paying the 6% pickup and provide a salary increase for eligible bargaining unit employees during the term of the Agreement, bargaining unit employees' 6% contributions to their PERS accounts shall be treated as "pre-tax" contributions pursuant to Internal Revenue Service Code, Section 414(h)(2).

#### Section 2.

a. <u>General Salary Increases:</u>

Subject to ORS 243.702, effective January 1, 2002, salary rates for bargaining units participating at the AFSCME central table shall be increased by two percent (2%), but no less than \$40.00 per month (prorated for part-time employees).

Subject to ORS 243.702, effective February 1, 2003, salary rates for bargaining units participating at the AFSCME central table will be increased by three percent (3%).

**Compensation Plan Squaring:** b.

Effective September 1, 2001, the steps of the compensation plan shall be adjusted as attached. Individual employees shall remain at their current steps and maintain their current salarv eligibility dates.

- C. Selective Salary Adjustment:
  - Custodian from SR 9 to SR10

The Custodian classification will be adjusted based on the following implementation

procedure:

An employee who has been at the top step in the salary range of their classification for at least twelve (12) full calendar months before October 1, 2001 will receive a step increase effective October 1, 2001 and a new eligibility date of October 1, 2002 will be assigned. All other employees will retain their current salary rate until their next salary eligibility date at which time the employee will move to the next higher step in the range. However, if the employee's current salary does not match any rate in the new salary range, the employee will move on the date of implementation to the next higher rate in the new salary range that is closest to their current salary. Employees whose current rate is below the first step of the new range shall be moved to the first step of the new range on October 1, 2001 and a new eligibility date of October 1, 2002 will be assigned.

d. Administrative Classification Study:

The parties shall enter into interim central table negotiations to establish the terms for implementing the administrative classification study.

## **ARTICLE 47 - STRIKES, LOCKOUTS AND PICKET LINES**

The Union agrees that during the life of this Agreement, the Union or its bargaining unit members will not authorize, instigate, aid or engage in any work stoppage, slowdown, sickout, refusal to work, picketing or strike against the Employer and the Agency, its goods or on its property.

The Agency agrees that during the life of this Agreement there will be no lockout.

Upon notification confirmed in writing by the Agency to the Union that certain bargaining unit employees covered by this Agreement are engaging in strike activity in violation of this Article, the Union shall advise such striking employees in writing, with a copy to the Agency, to return to work immediately. Such notification by the Union shall not constitute an admission that it has caused or counseled such strike activity.

Any alleged violation of this Article by either party may be referred to the grievance arbitration procedure or may be pursued in the Courts at the discretion of the moving party.

## **ARTICLE 48 - LEGISLATIVE ACTION**

### Section 1.

Provisions of this Agreement not requiring legislative funding, or statutory changes, before such provisions can be put into effect, shall be implemented on the effective date of this Agreement or as otherwise specified herein. Section 2.

Upon signing this Agreement, both parties shall promptly submit, and jointly recommend, to the Legislative Assembly or to the Emergency Board, the passage of the funding necessary to implement this Agreement, as well as any changes in statute which may be required to accomplish that purpose.

#### Section 3.

Should the Legislative Assembly or the Emergency Board fail to enact or adopt matters submitted to them under the preceding Section, then the Employer and Union shall immediately meet, negotiate and agree on modifications or substitutions for the affected portion or portions of this Agreement pursuant to the procedures provided by Article 49 (Savings).

### ARTICLE 49 - SAVINGS

In the event any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction or by ruling of the Employment Relations Board, then only such portion or portions shall become null and void and the balance of the Agreement remain in effect. The Employer and the Union agree to immediately meet, negotiate, and agree upon a substitute for the portion or portions of the Agreement so affected and to bring into conformance therewith not over sixty (60) days after notification unless extended by mutual agreement. If agreement on such matters is not reached within a reasonable period of time, the provision of Article 47 shall not apply.

### ARTICLE 50 - COMPLETE AGREEMENT

#### Section 1.

This Agreement is the full and complete Agreement between the Employer and the Union resulting from negotiations held pursuant to the provisions of ORS 243.650 et. seq. It is acknowledged that, during negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each and all had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter appropriate for collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Employer and the Union, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, if any, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter discussed in these negotiations. It shall not be modified in whole or in part except by another written instrument duly executed by the parties.

#### Section 2.

This Agreement supersedes all prior written agreements.

### ARTICLE 51 - SUCCESSOR NEGOTIATIONS

### Section 1.

If one of the parties desires to modify the Agreement, they shall notify the other party in writing no less than one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the termination of this Agreement.

### Section 2.

It is recognized by the Employer that employees representing the Union during the process of negotiations are acting on behalf of the Union as members and not in their capacity as employees of the Employer.

#### Section 3.

The Agency will allow up to five (5) identified employees to attend collective bargaining sessions as paid members of the Union's negotiating team. These five (5) employees will suffer no loss of pay or paid leave during actual bargaining time that occurs during their scheduled workday. No overtime, per diem, or any other compensation will be paid.

#### ARTICLE 52 - TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT

#### Section 1. Transfers.

a. A transfer is any permanent change of an employee from one duty station to another. "Duty station" is defined as the city where the Agency office is located or the city constituting the employee's work base. For employees in the Vehicle Inspection Program, "duty station" means the Tech Center or inspection station only.

b. An employee shall be given at least fifteen (15) calendar days notice of transfer. Where both parties agree, the required notice may be waived.

c. The incumbent may move with the position. However, before requiring the incumbent to transfer, the Agency shall offer the position to qualified volunteers. If two or more employees volunteer and demonstrate equal knowledge, skills, and abilities for the position, the most senior will be appointed.

d. If there are no qualified volunteers, the least senior qualified employee in the classification, will be transferred.

#### Section 2. Reassignment.

Reassignment is any temporary change of an employee from one duty station in the Agency to another. Such change in assignment shall not exceed forty-five (45) days. Where appropriate the provisions of Article 43 (Travel and Mileage Allowance) would apply.

#### ARTICLE 53 - CLIENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURE/EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

#### Section 1.

When the Agency receives a complaint of an alleged criminal law violation against an employee, the Agency shall refer the matter to a law enforcement or criminal justice agency. If the law enforcement or criminal justice agency refers the matter back to the Agency, the employee shall be notified.

#### Section 2.

When the Agency receives a noncriminal complaint against an employee which concerns a violation of rules, policies, or procedures, an investigation may be made by the Agency. The

employee shall be informed in writing of a complaint prior to a formal investigation. The Agency shall give written notification to the employee of the results of any investigation.

### Section 3.

Employees shall not be required by the Agency to answer any questions concerning any complaint or allegation against them until they have been advised of the specifics of the complaint or allegation. Upon the employee's request for Union representation, questioning shall be discontinued until a Union representative is available to participate.

## **ARTICLE 54 - JOB SHARING**

## Section 1.

Any employee who wishes to participate in job sharing may submit a written request to the Agency Personnel Manager to be considered for a job share position. The Agency shall notify the employee requesting the job share of the Agency's decision in writing.

## Section 2.

Job sharing employees shall accrue vacation leave, sick leave and holiday pay based on a prorate of hours worked in a month during which the employee has worked thirty-two (32) hours or more. Individual salary review dates will be established for job share employees.

### Section 3.

Job sharing employees shall be entitled to share the full Employer paid insurance benefits for one (1) full-time position based on a prorate of regular hours scheduled per week or per month whatever is appropriate. In any event, the Employer contribution for insurance benefits in a job share position is limited to the amount authorized for one (1) full-time employee.

### Section 4.

If the Agency determines that job sharing is not appropriate for the position or the Agency is unable to recruit qualified employees for the job share position, the affected employee(s) shall have the right to assume the position on a full-time basis or to bump a job share employee with less service credits in a position defined as two part-time equivalents under Article 20, Section 3(g)(1). The employee must meet all the qualifications as outlined in Article 20. Upon approval of the Agency, the remaining employee may elect to transfer to a vacant part-time position in the same classification or to voluntarily demote. If the above conditions are not available or acceptable, the employee would be subject to layoff.

## ARTICLE 55 - STATE/PERSONAL PROPERTY & PERSONAL EFFECTS

### Section 1.

Employees shall report any breakage, damage or theft of State property to his/her assigned supervisor as soon as practical.

#### Section 2.

An employee who suffers loss or damage to personal property used in the performance of authorized job duties may file a written claim to the Division Administrator provided that:

- a. Such use was sanctioned by their immediate excluded supervisor,
- b. The employee present a complete written report of the circumstances of the loss,
- c. The employee present proof of value, and

d. The employee certifies that any loss or damage was not because of fault, intent, or negligence on the part of the employee.

The claim shall be investigated to substantiate or disprove the facts indicated on the claim. Payment shall be approved or disapproved based on the investigation conducted with notification provided to the employee. Such notification where denied shall include the reasons for denial of the claim.

#### Section 3.

An employee who suffers theft or accident in the performance of authorized job duties which results in loss through damage of personal effects, may request, and the Agency shall provide assistance to the employee in the filing of a notice of claim with the Director of the Department of General Services pursuant to ORS 30.275.

## ARTICLE 56 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be in effect upon its execution and, except as amended or modified, shall remain in full force and effect until June 30, 2003.

## ARTICLE 57 - PROFESSIONAL DIFFERENCES OF OPINION

The Agency encourages staff to express their professional opinions and encourages an open and free exchange of ideas and opinions. Disagreements may be submitted to the next level of decision making for evaluation, up to and including the Director. A written response will be given, within a reasonable time period. Each employee is expected to perform work according to Agency policy, but no employee will be required to sign any report or recommendation, where he or she conscientiously objects to the opinion stated in such report or recommendation, but may be listed as designated contact person.

No retaliation or discrimination shall occur against any employee for expressing a differing professional opinion.

## ARTICLE 58 - PAST PRACTICE

#### Section 1.

The parties recognize the Employer's full right to direct the work force and to issue work orders and rules and that these rights are diminished only by the law and this Agreement.

### Section 2.

The Employer may change or issue new work practices or rules covering permissive subjects of bargaining, including issuing administrative rules over issues which are nonnegotiable and are not in conflict with or otherwise addressed in a specific provision of this Agreement.

#### Section 3.

The Employer agrees to bargain over any proposed changes in "Working conditions" considered mandatory subjects of bargaining, unless the subject was submitted as a written proposal during negotiations for this Agreement, in which case it can not be opened by either party.

#### Section 4.

If the Union believes the Agency has unilaterally changed an employee's wages or hours, the Union may file a written grievance directly with the Department of Administrative Services within fifteen (15) days of the alleged violation.

#### Section 5. Demand to Bargain.

If the Department of Administrative Services believes that the subject change is a mandatory subject of bargaining, the parties shall meet within ten (10) days of the Union's request to meet. If agreement is reached by the parties during the meeting under this Section, then the agreement shall be reduced to writing and signed by the parties.

If the Department of Administrative Services believes that the subject change is a permissive or prohibitive subject of bargaining, the Department of Administrative Services shall inform the Union it refuses to bargain the subject change within fifteen (15) calendar days of the Department's receipt of the demand to bargain.

The Union may then file an unfair labor practice complaint with the Employment Relations Board. If the Board determines that the change is a permissive or prohibited subject of bargaining, the Union shall withdraw its demand to bargain. If the Board determines the change is mandatory, the parties shall meet to negotiate the change. If, after bargaining, the parties do not reach agreement, the Union may submit the matter to arbitration. The notice must be received by the Department of Administrative Services within fifteen (15) days immediately following the last date the parties met to negotiate the change.

#### Section 6. Arbitration.

The parties agree that the decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on each of the parties and that they will abide thereby, unless the award is vacated pursuant to ORS 240.087 or ORS 240.088. The power of the arbitrator in an action brought under this Section shall be limited to determining if the change or new work practice or rule falls more within the scope of "management functions" as opposed to "employee benefits." If the arbitrator rules that the changed or new work practice or rule has a greater impact on "employee benefits," it shall be immediately withdrawn.

#### Section 7.

The arbitrator's fee and expenses shall be paid equally by the parties. Failure to act within the time limits waives any rights to further consideration in the matter.

## ARTICLE 59 - RECOUPMENT OF WAGE AND BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS/ UNDERPAYMENTS

Section 1. Overpayments.

a. In the event that an employee receives wages or benefits from the Agency to which the employee is not entitled, regardless of whether the employee knew or should have known of the overpayment, the Agency shall notify the employee in writing of the overpayment which will include information supporting that an overpayment exists and the amount of wages and/or benefits to be repaid. For purposes of recovering overpayments by payroll deduction, the following shall apply:

1. The Agency may, at its discretion, use the payroll deduction process to correct any overpayment made within a maximum period of two (2) years before the notification.

2. Where this process is utilized, the employee and Agency shall meet and attempt to reach mutual agreement on a repayment schedule within thirty (30) calendar days following written notification.

3. If there is no mutual agreement at the end of the thirty (30) calendar day period, the Agency shall implement the repayment schedule stated in sub (4) below.

4. If the overpayment amount to be repaid is more than five percent (5%) of the employee's regular monthly base salary, the overpayment shall be recovered in monthly amounts not exceeding five percent (5%) of the employee's regular monthly base salary. If an overpayment is less than five percent (5%) of the employee's regular monthly base salary, the overpayment shall be recovered in a lump sum deduction from the employee's paycheck. If an employee leaves Agency service before the Agency fully recovers the overpayment, the remaining amount may be deducted from the employee's final check.

b. An employee who disagrees with the Agency's determination that an overpayment has been made to the employee may grieve the determination through the grievance procedure.

c. The Article does not waive the Agency's right to pursue other legal procedures and processes to recoup an overpayment made to an employee at any time.

### Section 2. Underpayments.

a. In the event the employee does not receive the wages or benefits to which the record/documentation has for all times indicated the employer agreed the employee was entitled, the Agency shall notify the employee in writing of the underpayment. This notification will include information showing that an underpayment exists and the amount of wages and/or benefits to be repaid. The Agency shall correct any such underpayment made within a maximum period of two years before the notification.

b. This provision shall not apply to claims disputing eligibility for payments which result from this agreement. Employees claiming eligibility for such things as leadwork, work out of classification pay or reclassification must pursue those claims pursuant to the timelines elsewhere in this agreement.

#### ARTICLE 60 – TELECOMMUTING AND ALTERNATIVE WORK ARRANGEMENTS

Section 1.

The State allows telecommuting and alternative work arrangements where there are opportunities for improved employee productivity, reduced commuting miles or potential agency savings.

Telecommuting work arrangements are subject to State Policy 50.050.01 – Telecommuting – and the terms and conditions of this collective bargaining agreement. The Agency or the employee may terminate individual agreements, in whole or in part, upon seven (7) days notice to each other.

#### Section 2. Who May Participate.

Employees who meet the qualifications below and whose duties can be successfully performed away from their primary duty station are eligible to apply for a telecommuting work schedule. Employees having primary job duties that require them to interact in person with members of the public, the regulated community, other DEQ employees, or other groups or individuals, on a frequent basis during each workday, typically are not going to be good candidates for telecommuting. A home computer and/or the ability to connect to the agency network are not prerequisites for telecommuting.

#### Section 3. Qualifications.

Employees who meet the following qualifications may initiate a telecommuting proposal with their manager:

a. A current overall rating of satisfactory or better.

b. Completion of trial service period.

c. Residence within same State (or District of Columbia) as normal reporting location.

d. Adequate space with privacy and sufficient electrical power and outlets for all equipment necessary to perform the work.

#### Section 4. Considerations.

Factors to be considered when managers are evaluating telecommuting proposals:

a. Customer/Operational needs of work unit will be met.

b. Number of employees within a work unit who are telecommuting and/or using alternate work schedules.

c. Individual has a flexible work schedule.

d. Managers may evaluate any factor rated below satisfactory on the work plan scoring sheet to determine if it would preclude successful participation in telecommuting. (See Article 32 – Position Descriptions/Work Plans)

Generally telecommuting will be one day per work week.

The Agency's determination as to qualifications and considerations above will be final. These determinations will not be made arbitrarily.

### Section 5. Telecommuting Requests.

Proposals for telecommuting may be initiated by an employee meeting the above criteria by completing the Telecommuting Agreement form and must be approved by the Division Administrator. The manager of the work unit will review the proposal to insure that the work unit operational needs are met. Where more than one qualified employee requests the same telecommuting day, and all requests cannot be granted, preference will be granted on the basis of seniority within DEQ.

e.

#### Section 6. Equipment.

DAS-Information Resource Management Network Security Policy shall be followed in cases of PC equipment and software and modem connection to State computer security systems. In the event of equipment malfunction or other circumstance which may interfere with the performance of work assignments, the employee shall promptly notify the supervisor. Equipment for telecommuting may be loaned by the Agency upon request, subject to availability of surplus equipment, as designated by the Agency, and Agency approval. Equipment loaned by the Agency shall remain property of the state, and the employee shall be required to sign receipts for all equipment and supplies taken to the telecommuting location and shall be liable for negligent damage to it. Equipment loaned by the Agency shall be used in accordance with the Acceptable Use of Agency Electronic Information Systems policy.

### Section 7. Telecommuting Work Schedule.

Participants are expected to work their full workday in a punctual manner and, while working, give their full attention to the performance of their job duties. Telecommuting work time shall not be spent for dependent care activities nor for personal business. If dependents are normally present in the home during telecommuting work hours, the employee will provide the Agency with a dependent care plan listing who will be providing the dependent care. In the event that participants wish to leave their tele-worksite at times other than scheduled breaks and lunch hour, they will provide notice to their supervisors when they are leaving and when they return. If an emergency situation develops which prevents the employee from continuing their work, the employee will notify their supervisor as soon as appropriate.

#### Section 8. Tele-worksite Supplies.

Disposable tele-worksite supplies shall be provided by the Agency. Equipment, software or supplies which are provided by the Agency for use at the tele-worksite shall be for the purposes of conducting Agency business only. The Agency may issue a state telephone credit card to telecommuters to make state business phone calls.

### Section 9. Home Worksite.

Home worksite furniture and equipment shall normally be provided by the telecommuter. The employee shall maintain a clean, safe, dedicated work space. In the case of injury occurring during telecommuting work hours, the employee shall immediately report the injury to the supervisor. SAIF or agency safety representatives shall have reasonable access to the home worksite to conduct accident investigations or job site evaluations.

### Section 10. Work Location, Mileage and Travel Time.

The participant's normal DEQ reporting location will remain the same. In addition, participants may be required to report to Agency or non-Agency locations for purposes such as meetings, medical visits, training sessions and policy/practice coverage. Business visits, meetings with Agency customers or meetings with co-workers shall not be held at the home worksite. No payment for mileage or travel time will be made when the participant is directed to report to his/her normal reporting location or visits the location to pick up pay drafts or other materials. Payment for mileage or travel to other than normal reporting locations will be handled as outlined in the Article 43 – Travel and Mileage Allowance of this collective bargaining agreement.

Section 11. Joint Labor-Management Committee.

A four-member committee appointed by the Union and Agency will be created to serve as an advisory resource committee for the Agency on telecommuting. The committee, which will meet a minimum of twice a year, is responsible for:

a. making recommendations for handling unanticipated problems or issues related to the telecommuting program;

b. evaluating the program and making recommendations for improvement, and;

c. serving as a resource to provide managers additional information or recommendations for handling generic problems that arise, however it is not the job of the committee to resolve problems arising between individual telecommuters and managers.

The committee may recommend any changes that would be subject to collective bargaining pursuant to PECBA. Modifications to the collective bargaining agreement will be made through the bargaining process by the designated representatives.

### Section 12. Expectations and Goals.

Telecommuting employees and their managers will develop a clear set of expectations and goals for the work to be performed on telecommuting days. Such expectations may include checking e-mail and voice-mail on a regular basis and returning phone calls in a timely manner. Included in the telecommuting agreement form will be a check box indicating that managers and employees have developed expectations and goals.

### Section 13. Training.

Appropriate training will be provided for participating managers and employees.

### Section 14. Exploration of Options.

The Agency will continue to explore options and develop implementation plans when possible in the following areas:

a. making computer equipment available to employees on an as needed basis to use while telecommuting or teleworking;

b. developing satellite work sites; and

c. identifying funding sources for a program designed to facilitate the purchase of personal computer equipment by employees for home use.

### Section 15. Other Provisions.

These provisions are applicable to all sections listed above.

a. Call back and overtime will be handled as outlined in the applicable provisions of this collective bargaining agreement.

b. Since supervisors must continue to be in a position to evaluate employee performance, certify the accuracy of time sheets and attendance records, and perform a variety of other supervisory responsibilities, participants should anticipate that, in addition to being supervised pursuant to normal office procedures, there will also be the possibility that they will receive telephone calls at their residences from supervisors during the times that they are to be on duty.

c. In the event of a work stoppage, telecommuting arrangements utilized by represented employees shall be suspended.

d. The grievance and arbitration procedures under Article 13 – Grievance Procedure of this collective bargaining agreement will apply to disputes associated with this Article.

e. The Agency reserves the right to remove individual participants from telecommuting at any time. This right will not be exercised arbitrarily.

f. Members will waive no right to Union representation as enumerated in this collective bargaining agreement or as guaranteed by the law.

## Section 16. Alternative Work Arrangements.

Subject to Agency approval, the following types of alternative work arrangements may be utilized to allow an employee to work from home or at an alternate location on a short-term, ad hoc basis:

- a. To respond to a family or home emergency that necessitates an employee being physically present but allows the employee free time to perform job tasks;
- b. To work individually or as part of a team on a project requiring uninterrupted work time or additional space; or
- c. In response to other appropriate ad hoc events such as clean air days or inclement weather.

To qualify for such an arrangement, the employee's alternative-work-arrangement work site must be located within the same state as the employee's regular duty station.

Alternative work arrangements may not be used on a long-term basis and are not considered "telecommuting" under this Article. As such, none of the other provisions of this Article shall apply to this Section.

## ARTICLE 61 - IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW CLASSES—APPEALS PROCESS

The appeals process is designed to allocate employees into new classes. Employees in positions allocated to a new classification, who dispute their placement within the new class, can appeal their placement using the following process:

## Section 1.

a. An appeal may be filed by an individual employee or a steward or a Council Representative on behalf of the employee, to the Agency personnel office within 15 calendar days of written notification by the Agency of placement into the new class. Employees sharing the same or substantially similar position descriptions or employees the Agency agrees to treat as a group may file an appeal as a group. The initial filing should describe the individual or group, including the names of affected members, identify the proposed placement, and the placement believed to be correct by the affected employees. The appeal must include current, signed position descriptions. Because the old classifications are to be abolished, correct placement cannot be back to the prior classification.

The Agency shall conduct a review of the allocation using the following criteria:

1. The purpose of the job shall be determined by the statement of purpose and assigned duties of the position description and other relevant evidence of duties assigned by the Agency;

2. The concept of the proposed classification shall be determined by the general description and distinguishing features of its class specification; and

3. The overall duties, authority and responsibilities of the position shall be determined by the position description and other relevant evidence of duties assigned by the

Agency. This decision shall be made within 30 calendar days of receipt of the appeal and provided to the affected employees in writing and with a summary of the classification analysis.

If denied, the Union may appeal the Agency's decision in writing to the Labor b. Relations Unit within 15 calendar days of receipt of the written denial. The appeals will be considered by the Employer designee (or an alternate) and the Union designee (or an alternate) who shall form the committee charged with the responsibility to consider appeals and make decisions which maintain the integrity of the classification system by correctly applying the classification specifications. Additionally, the committee may utilize two resource persons, one designated by each party, to provide technical expertise concerning a specific series, The committee will attempt to resolve the matter by jointly determining whether the current or proposed class more accurately depicts the overall assigned duties, authorities and responsibilities of the position using the criteria specified above. In this process each of the designees may identify one alternate class that he/she determines most accurately depicts the purpose of the job and overall assigned duties. If an alternate class is identified, both the Union and Labor Relations Unit shall be notified. If the parties concur that shall end the allocation appeal. In the event the committee concludes that the proposed or alternate class is more appropriate, management retains the right to modify the work assignment on a timely basis to make it consistent with the Agency's allocation.

Appeals shall be decided in order of receipt by the Labor Relations Unit. Decisions shall be rendered by the designees no later than 60 calendar days of receipt of the appeal by the committee.

c. The decision of the designees shall be binding on the parties. However, agencies may elect to remove/modify duties at any point during the process.

d. If the appeals committee cannot make a decision, the Union may request final and binding arbitration by a written notice to the Labor Relations Unit within the next forty-five (45) calendar day period. Each party may go forward with only one class. Each party may choose to take to arbitration either the current class, class appealed to, or an alternate class identified by a committee member. The arbitrator shall allow the decision of the Agency to stand unless he/she concludes that the proposed classification more accurately depicts the overall assigned duties, authority, and responsibilities of the position.

e. Where a position is vacated after the filing of the initial appeal, the Union may continue the appeal process and such appeals will be reviewed by the committee only after the review of all filled positions appeals is completed and where the Agency indicates that no change in duties is anticipated prior to refilling the position.

f. This process terminates upon completion of the allocation process.

### ARTICLE 62 – BILINGUAL DIFFERENTIAL

When formally assigned in the employee's position description, an employee assigned to interpret to or from another language to English will receive a differential of four percent (4%) of base pay.

Signed this	13th	dav of	October .	2001	in Salem, Oregon.
			,		

FOR THE STATE OF OREGON STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES

Mike Greenfield, Director Department of Administrative Services

Daniel Kennedy, Administrator Human Resource Services Division

Stephanie Hallock, Director Department of Environmental Quality

Neil Mullane, NW Region Administrator Department of Environmental Quality

Gale Miller, Human Resources Manager Department of Environmental Quality

Dawn Jansen, Labor Relations Manager Department of Environmental Quality

Andy Ginsburg, Air Quality Division Administrator Department of Environmental Quality

Sally Puent, Manager of Solid Waste and Site Assessment Section, Northwest Region Department of Environmental Quality

Michael Halpern, Sr. Labor Relations Manager Labor Relations Unit Neil Bednarczyk, Council Representative AFSCME Council 75

Doug Drake, President AFSCME Local 3336

Brooks Koenig AFSCME Local 3336

Elliot Zais AFSCME Local 3336

Audrey Eldridge AFSCME Local 3336

Marilyn Daniel AFSCME Local 3336

## APPENDIX A - SPILL CLEANUP COORDINATION

#### Section 1.

The nature and extent of activities conducted as part of the spill cleanup coordination program will be determined by the Agency. Spill cleanup coordination activities will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Article 22 (Health and Safety). Those activities may be modified by the Agency, as determined by changes in roles, responsibilities and consideration of costs.

#### Section 2.

The Agency will select the employees assigned to Spill Cleanup Coordination duties. The Agency will first consider volunteers. Selection of employees will be based upon consideration for knowledge of hazardous materials and petroleum products, experience, training and accessibility to likely spill locations.

#### Section 3.

Employees who have been formally assigned by the Agency, in writing, to be on-call for, and to perform after normal working hours" Spill Cleanup Coordination duties, shall receive a monthly salary differential as follows:

a. Employees working on-call spill cleanup coordination one week in eight weeks will receive \$100.00 and 2.7 hours paid leave per month.

b. Employees working on-call spill cleanup coordination one week in seven weeks will receive \$114.29 and 3.1 hours paid leave per month.

c. Employees working on-call spill cleanup coordination one week in six weeks will receive \$133.34 and 3.6 hours paid leave per month.

d. Employees working on-call spill cleanup coordination one week in five weeks will receive \$160.00 and 4.3 hours paid leave per month.

e. Employees working on-call spill cleanup coordination one week in four weeks or more frequently will receive \$200.00 and 5.4 hours paid leave per month.

Employees working a pre-approved, set rotation schedule that is different than those in a-e above, shall be compensated monthly at the same weekly rate as used above, \$184.62 and 5 hours paid leave per week of duty calculated on an annual basis, for performing on-call cleanup coordination duties. When assigned to be on call for spill cleanup coordination duties, the compensation provided in this Section will be paid in addition to employee's base salary.

Where spill response duties are required after normal working hours, and the employee acting as coordinator is on-call at the time of response, the employee shall be compensated in accordance with the provisions of Article 35 (Overtime) and Article 28 (Holidays), sections 3 and 4, in addition to the salary differential.

#### Section 4.

Where spill response duties are required after normal working hours and the employee acting as coordinator is not on-call at the time of response, the employee shall be compensated in accordance with the provisions of Article 35 (Overtime) and Article 28 (Holidays), sections 3 and 4.

### Section 5.

Employees who have been formally assigned to spill cleanup coordination duties under section 3, and who elect to exchange pre-assigned, scheduled rotation on-call duties with another employee, will not be entitled to receive a greater monthly salary differential payment.

#### Section 6.

The adjustments for compensation in Sections 3 and 4 shall be retroactive to May 1, 1996. Employees shall not suffer any retroactive loss of pay or leave accrual if the agreement to make these sections effective May 1, 1996 would result in a downward adjustment.

### APPENDIX B

## LETTER OF AGREEMENT Workload

This Letter of Agreement is entered into by the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, acting by and through its Department of Administrative Services on behalf of the Department of Environmental Quality, hereinafter referred to as the Agency and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees hereinafter referred to as the Union.

It is agreed both parties will jointly identify an ad hoc labor/management committee that will develop clear mechanisms for employees to safely raise workload issues. This group will also recommend strategies to program planning teams for evaluating, defining, and aligning program priorities, resources and workloads. The agency shall provide a list of appropriate training.

### LETTER OF AGREEMENT VIP (Portland Area) Part-time Employees

This Letter of Agreement is entered into by the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, acting by and through its Department of Administrative Services on behalf of the Department of Environmental Quality, hereinafter referred to as the Agency and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees hereinafter referred to as the Union.

The parties agree to the following:

a. There shall be, within the Vehicle Inspection Program (Portland Area VIP), a maximum of 32 part-time bargaining unit members;

b. Within 90 days of the execution of this Agreement, a joint Union-Agency Committee shall be formed and shall meet;

c. The joint committee shall be comprised of two members representing and appointed by the Union and two members representing Agency management, and shall have as its purpose the creation of a system for including seniority in assigning above the 20-hour minimum work hours to part-time VIP employees;

d. The system devised by the committee shall be considerate of the operating needs of the Agency and the collective bargaining agreement; and

e. The product of the committee shall be implemented by the Agency within 30 days of the committee's final decision; provided that either the Union or the Agency management shall have the right to initiate, at any time, a review of the system by the Labor-Management Committee.

#### LETTER OF AGREEMENT Career Development

This Letter of Agreement is entered into by the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, acting by and through its Department of Administrative Services on behalf of the Department of Environmental Quality, hereinafter referred to as the Agency and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees hereinafter referred to as the Union.

The parties agree to the following:

a. The Employer and the Union agree to refer issues and concerns regarding career development to a subcommittee of the Agency Labor/Management Committee. Specific recommendations shall be developed and recommended to the Agency Labor/Management Committee by December 31, 1997.

b. The designated subcommittee shall be authorized to meet monthly for up to three (3) hours.

c. The subcommittee shall be comprised of two (2) management and two (2) labor representatives.

# APPENDIX C - AFSCME - DEQ CLASSIFICATION PLAN

CLASS <u>NUMBER</u>	<u>CLASS TITLE</u>	SALARY <u>RANGE</u>
0101	Office Assistant 1	7
0102	Office Assistant 2	9
0103	Office Specialist 1	12C
0104	Office Specialist 2	15C
0107	Admin. Specialist 1	17
0108	Admin. Specialist 2	19
0118	Exec. Sup. Spec. 1	17
0119	Exec. Sup. Spec. 2	19
0150	Std. Prof/Tech Wrkr.	11
0210	Accounting Tech 1	13
0211	Accounting Tech 2	17
0212	Accounting Tech 3	19
0321	Pub. Service Rep. 1	9
0322	Pub. Service Rep. 2	12C
0323	Pub. Service Rep. 3	15
0324	Pub. Service Rep. 4	19
0430	Grants/Cont. Coord.	24
0530	Word Processing Tech 1	11
0531	Word Processing Tech 2	13
0532	Word Processing Tech 3	15
0705	Property Spec. 1	12
0706 0707	Property Spec. 2	14 16
0771	Property Spec. 3 Purchaser 1	17
0772	Purchaser 2	21
0789	Business Fin. Officer	28
0801	Office Coordinator	20 15
0810	Project Coordinator	26
0812	Program Tech. 1	23
0813	Program Tech. 2	27
0816	Program Rep. 1	22
0817	Program Rep. 2	26
1142	Budget Analyst	26
1180	Mgmt. Analyst 1	19
1181	Mgmt. Analyst 2	23
1182	Mgmt. Analyst 3	26
1205	Fiscal Coord. 1	23
1207	Fiscal Coord. 2	27
1215	Accountant 1	21
1216	Accountant 2	23

1217   Accountant 3   27     1218   Accountant 4   30     1481   Info Systems Specialist 1   171     1482   Info Systems Specialist 2   211     1483   Info Systems Specialist 2   211     1483   Info Systems Specialist 3   241     1484   Info Systems Specialist 5   281     1485   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info Asst.   17     2211   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 2   26     31715   Chemist 2   27     3779   Microbiologist 2   23     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13 </th <th>CLASS <u>NUMBER</u></th> <th><u>CLASS TITLE</u></th> <th>SALARY <u>RANGE</u></th>	CLASS <u>NUMBER</u>	<u>CLASS TITLE</u>	SALARY <u>RANGE</u>
1481   Info Systems Specialist 1   171     1482   Info Systems Specialist 2   211     1483   Info Systems Specialist 3   241     1484   Info Systems Specialist 3   241     1485   Info Systems Specialist 5   281     1486   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3119   Env. Engineer 3   20	1217	Accountant 3	27
1482   Info Systems Specialist 2   211     1483   Info Systems Specialist 3   241     1484   Info Systems Specialist 4   251     1485   Info Systems Specialist 5   281     1486   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3715   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2	1218	Accountant 4	30
1483   Info Systems Specialist 3   241     1484   Info Systems Specialist 4   251     1485   Info Systems Specialist 5   281     1486   Info Systems Specialist 5   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 2   28     3411   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3766   Microbiologist 1   21     3779   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3808			
1484   Info Systems Specialist 4   251     1485   Info Systems Specialist 5   281     1486   Info Systems Specialist 5   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1480   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1481   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1482   Librarian   26     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3411   Env. Engineer 1   23     3715   Che		, ,	
1485   Info Systems Specialist 5   281     1486   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1480   Info Systems Specialist 7   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 2   28     3411   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2			
1486   Info Systems Specialist 6   291     1487   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info. Asst.   17     2111   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3766   Chemist 2   25     3777   Microbiologist 2   23     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Elec. Tech. 1   13     4142   Trd/Mt			
1487   Info Systems Specialist 7   311     1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info. Asst.   17     2111   Public Info. Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3760   Microbiologist 1   21     3779   Microbiologist 2   23     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4142			
1488   Info Systems Specialist 8   331     2110   Public Info. Asst.   17     2111   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   14			
2110   Public Info. Asst.   17     2111   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3760   Microbiologist 1   21     3779   Microbiologist 2   23     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4133   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   17			
2111   Public Info Rep. 1   24     2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3780   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4122   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4122   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
2220   Librarian   26     2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3777   Chemist 3   27     3780   Microbiologist 1   21     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4122   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4135   Elec. Tech. 2   17 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
2510   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 1   17     2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3766   Chemist 2   25     3777   Chemist 3   27     3781   Microbiologist 2   23     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4133   Td/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4142   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1 <td></td> <td>•</td> <td></td>		•	
2511   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 2   21     2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3766   Chemist 2   25     3777   Chemist 3   27     3780   Microbiologist 1   21     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   19T     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   13     6810   Lab Tech 1 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>			
2512   Electronic Pub. Design Spec. 3   23     3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   21T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13 <		• •	
3116   Cartographer 1 (no Cartographer will be   13     3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3766   Chemist 2   25     3777   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Cientific Instrument Tech 1   17     4133   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17		<b>U</b> 1	
3117   Cartographer 2 allocated lower than current   17     3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     376   Chemist 2   25     3777   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		• •	
3118   Cartographer 3 per agreement of parties 2/28)   19     3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     7501   Natural Res. Spec. 1			
3410   Env. Engineer 1   23     3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3780   Microbiologist 1   21     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Oord.   21     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21			
3411   Env. Engineer 2   28     3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21			
3412   Env. Engineer 3   30     3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Ocord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		-	
3715   Chemist 1   21     3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     41335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		•	
3716   Chemist 2   25     3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		•	
3717   Chemist 3   27     3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21			
3779   Microbiologist 1   21     3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21			
3780   Microbiologist 2   23     3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4123   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21			
3781   Microbiologist 3   25     3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4133   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		0	
3807   Vehicle Em. Tech. 1   13     3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4123   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		•	
3808   Vehicle Em. Tech. 2   17     4101   Custodian   10     4120   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1   13     4121   Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2   17     4123   Trd/Mtc. Coord.   21T     4335   Elec. Tech. 1   14     4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		0	
4101Custodian104120Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1134121Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2174123Trd/Mtc. Coord.21T4335Elec. Tech. 1144336Elec. Tech. 2174338Scientific Instrument Tech 119T4339Scientific Instrument Tech 221T5750Env. Law Spec.286810Lab Tech 1136811Lab Tech 2178501Natural Res. Spec. 121			
4120Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 1134121Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2174123Trd/Mtc. Coord.21T4335Elec. Tech. 1144336Elec. Tech. 2174338Scientific Instrument Tech 119T4339Scientific Instrument Tech 221T5750Env. Law Spec.286810Lab Tech 1136811Lab Tech 2178501Natural Res. Spec. 121			
4121Trd/Mtc. Wrkr. 2174123Trd/Mtc. Coord.21T4335Elec. Tech. 1144336Elec. Tech. 2174338Scientific Instrument Tech 119T4339Scientific Instrument Tech 221T5750Env. Law Spec.286810Lab Tech 1136811Lab Tech 2178501Natural Res. Spec. 121			
4123Trd/Mtc. Coord.21T4335Elec. Tech. 1144336Elec. Tech. 2174338Scientific Instrument Tech 119T4339Scientific Instrument Tech 221T5750Env. Law Spec.286810Lab Tech 1136811Lab Tech 2178501Natural Res. Spec. 121			
4335Elec. Tech. 1144336Elec. Tech. 2174338Scientific Instrument Tech 119T4339Scientific Instrument Tech 221T5750Env. Law Spec.286810Lab Tech 1136811Lab Tech 2178501Natural Res. Spec. 121			
4336   Elec. Tech. 2   17     4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21			
4338   Scientific Instrument Tech 1   19T     4339   Scientific Instrument Tech 2   21T     5750   Env. Law Spec.   28     6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21		Elec. Tech. 2	
5750Env. Law Spec.286810Lab Tech 1136811Lab Tech 2178501Natural Res. Spec. 121		Scientific Instrument Tech 1	19T
6810   Lab Tech 1   13     6811   Lab Tech 2   17     8501   Natural Res. Spec. 1   21	4339	Scientific Instrument Tech 2	21T
6811     Lab Tech 2     17       8501     Natural Res. Spec. 1     21	5750	Env. Law Spec.	28
8501Natural Res. Spec. 121	6810	•	13
•	6811	Lab Tech 2	17
8502Natural Res. Spec. 224	8501	Natural Res. Spec. 1	21
	8502	Natural Res. Spec. 2	24

CLASS <u>NUMBER</u>	<u>CLASS TITLE</u>	SALARY <u>RANGE</u>
8503	Natural Res. Spec. 3	27
8503	Natural Res. Spec. 3 (Hydrologist)	27
8504	Natural Res. Spec. 4	30
8504	Natural Res. Spec. 4 (Hydro/Env Tox)	30
8505	Natural Res. Spec. 5	32

## Salary Range Codes:

- "C" Eight-step off-range clerical class salary range for agencies in Portland.
- ""
- Eight-step off-range information systems class salary range. Four-step off-range salary range primarily used for skilled trades classes "T"

# APPENDIX D

SALARY SCHEDULE								
RANGE	1	2	3	<u>9/1/01</u> 4	5	6	7	8
07	1223	1282	1361	1427	1496	1562	1625	1701
09	1361	1427	1496	1562	1625	1701	1773	1854
10	1427	1496	1562	1625	1701	1773	1854	1938
11	1496	1562	1625	1701	1773	1854	1938	2014
12	1562	1625	1701	1773	1854	1938	2014	2108
13	1625	1701	1773	1854	1938	2014	2108	2209
14	1701	1773	1854	1938	2014	2108	2209	2314
15	1773	1854	1938	2014	2108	2209	2314	2422
16	1854	1938	2014	2108	2209	2314	2422	2535
17	1938	2014	2108	2209	2314	2422	2535	2658
19	2108	2209	2314	2422	2535	2658	2785	2915
21	2314	2422	2535	2658	2785	2915	3055	3207
22	2422	2535	2658	2785	2915	3055	3207	3360
23	2535	2658	2785	2915	3055	3207	3360	3521
24	2658	2785	2915	3055	3207	3360	3521	3690
25	2785	2915	3055	3207	3360	3521	3690	3870
26	2915	3055	3207	3360	3521	3690	3870	4060
27	3055	3207	3360	3521	3690	3870	4060	4261
28	3207	3360	3521	3690	3870	4060	4261	4465
29	3360	3521	3690	3870	4060	4261	4465	4684
30	3521	3690	3870	4060	4261	4465	4684	4910
32	3870	4060	4261	4465	4684	4910	5152	5396
12C	1594	1663	1737	1814	1896	1976	2061	2159
15C	1814	1896	1976	2061	2159	2262	2368	2479
19T					2596	2722	2850	2985
21T					2850	2985	3131	3284
171	2003	2096	2193	2294	2402	2515	2634	2756
211	2340	2450	2566	2685	2810	2942	3080	3224
241	2681	2804	2937	3075	3218	3370	3528	3694
251	2905	3042	3186	3334	3491	3654	3826	4006
281	3245	3397	3558	3723	3899	4082	4274	4475
291	3470	3634	3803	3982	4170	4367	4572	4787
311	3843	4023	4212	4410	4618	4834	5064	5301
331	4186	4383	4590	4805	5033	5270	5517	5779

SALARY SCHEDULE 1/1/02*								
RANGE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
07	1263	1322	1401	1467	1536	1602	1665	1741
09	1401	1467	1536	1602	1665	1741	1813	1894
10	1467	1536	1602	1665	1741	1813	1894	1978
11	1536	1602	1665	1741	1813	1894	1978	2054
12	1602	1665	1741	1813	1894	1978	2054	2150
13	1665	1741	1813	1894	1978	2054	2150	2253
14	1741	1813	1894	1978	2054	2150	2253	2360
15	1813	1894	1978	2054	2150	2253	2360	2470
16	1894	1978	2054	2150	2253	2360	2470	2586
17	1978	2054	2150	2253	2360	2470	2586	2711
19	2150	2253	2360	2470	2586	2711	2841	2973
21	2360	2470	2586	2711	2841	2973	3116	3271
22	2470	2586	2711	2841	2973	3116	3271	3427
23	2586	2711	2841	2973	3116	3271	3427	3591
24	2711	2841	2973	3116	3271	3427	3591	3764
25	2841	2973	3116	3271	3427	3591	3764	3947
26	2973	3116	3271	3427	3591	3764	3947	4141
27	3116	3271	3427	3591	3764	3947	4141	4346
28	3271	3427	3591	3764	3947	4141	4346	4554
29	3427	3591	3764	3947	4141	4346	4554	4778
30	3591	3764	3947	4141	4346	4554	4778	5008
32	3947	4141	4346	4554	4778	5008	5255	5504
12C	1634	1703	1777	1854	1936	2016	2102	2202
15C	1854	1936	2016	2102	2202	2307	2415	2529
19T					2649	2775	2907	3045
21T					2907	3045	3194	3350
17I	2043	2138	2237	2340	2450	2565	2687	2811
211	2387	2499	2617	2739	2866	3001	3142	3288
241	2735	2860	2996	3137	3282	3437	3599	3768
251	2963	3103	3250	3401	3561	3727	3903	4086
281	3310	3465	3629	3797	3977	4164	4359	4565
291	3539	3707	3879	4062	4253	4454	4663	4883
311	3920	4103	4296	4498	4710	4931	5165	5407
331	4207	4471	4682	4901	5134	5375	5627	5895

\* The above rates are subject to change due to rounding errors.

SALARY SCHEDULE 2/1/03*								
RANGE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
07	1301	1362	1443	1511	1582	1650	1715	1793
09	1443	1511	1582	1650	1715	1793	1867	1951
10	1511	1582	1650	1715	1793	1867	1951	2037
11	1582	1650	1715	1793	1867	1951	2037	2116
12	1650	1715	1793	1867	1951	2037	2116	2215
13	1715	1793	1867	1951	2037	2116	2215	2321
14	1793	1867	1951	2037	2116	2215	2321	2431
15	1867	1951	2037	2116	2215	2321	2431	2545
16	1951	2037	2116	2215	2321	2431	2545	2663
17	2037	2116	2215	2321	2431	2545	2663	2792
19	2215	2321	2431	2545	2663	2792	2926	3062
21	2431	2545	2663	2792	2926	3062	3210	3369
22	2545	2663	2792	2926	3062	3210	3369	3530
23	2663	2792	2926	3062	3210	3369	3530	3699
24	2792	2926	3062	3210	3369	3530	3699	3877
25	2926	3062	3210	3369	3530	3699	3877	4066
26	3062	3210	3369	3530	3699	3877	4066	4265
27	3210	3369	3530	3699	3877	4066	4265	4477
28	3369	3530	3699	3877	4066	4265	4477	4691
29	3530	3699	3877	4066	4265	4477	4691	4921
30	3699	3877	4066	4265	4477	4691	4921	5158
32	4066	4265	4477	4691	4921	5158	5413	5669
12C	1683	1754	1830	1910	1994	2076	2165	2268
15C	1910	1994	2076	2165	2268	2376	2488	2604
19T					2728	2859	2994	3136
21T					2994	3136	3289	3450
17I	2104	2202	2304	2410	2524	2642	2767	2895
211	2458	2574	2696	2821	2952	3091	3236	3387
241	2817	2946	3086	3231	3381	3541	3707	3881
25I	3052	3196	3347	3503	3668	3839	4020	4209
281	3409	3569	3738	3911	4096	4289	4490	4701
291	3646	3818	3995	4183	4381	4588	4803	5029
311	4037	4227	4425	4633	4852	5079	5320	5569
331	4398	4605	4822	5048	5288	5537	5796	6071

\* The above rates are subject to change due to rounding errors.